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For more information about BC Housing, contact: 

Home Office 
Suite 1701 – 4555 Kingsway, Burnaby, British Columbia, V5H 

4V8 Email: webeditor@bchousing.org 
Phone: 604 433-1711 | Fax: 604 439-4722 

Licensing and Consumer Services 
Suite 203 – 4555 Kingsway, Burnaby, British Columbia, V5H 

4T8 Email: licensinginfo@bchousing.org 
Telephone: 604 646-7050 | Toll-free in Canada: 1 800 407-7757 

Interior Region 
451 Winnipeg St., Penticton, British Columbia, V2A 

5M6 Email: interiorregion@bchousing.org 
Phone: 250 493-0301 | Outside Penticton call: 1 800 834-7149 | Fax: 250 492-1080 

Lower Mainland Non-Profit Office 
Suite 1701 – 4555 Kingsway, Burnaby, British Columbia, V5H 

4V8 Email: LMNonProfit@bchousing.org 
Telephone: 604 433-1711 | Fax: 604 525-8201 

Lower Mainland Directly Managed Office 
Suite 510 – 369 Terminal Ave., Vancouver, British Columbia, V6A 

4C4 Email: LMDirectlyManaged@bchousing.org 
Telephone: 604 609-7024 | Fax: 604 609-7031 

Northern Region 
1380 – 2nd Ave., Prince George, British Columbia, V2L 

3B5 Email: northernregion@bchousing.org 
Telephone: 250 562-9251 | Outside Prince George call: 1 800 667-1235 | Fax: 250 

562-6488 

Vancouver Island Region 
Suite 201 – 3440 Douglas St., Victoria, British Columbia, V8Z 

3L5 Email: vanislandregion@bchousing.org 
Telephone: 250 475-7550 | Fax: 250 475-7551 

Supportive Housing Services - Orange Hall 
297 E. Hastings St., Vancouver, British Columbia, V6A 

1P2 Email: OrangeHall@bchousing.org 
Telephone: 604 648-4270 

 
Program and Information Line 

1 800 257-7756 

 
Visit the BC Housing website at: www.bchousing.org 
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Board Chair’s Accountability Statement 
The BC Housing 2022/23 Annual Service Plan Report compares the 
organization’s actual results to the expected results identified in the 
2022/23 – 2024/25 Service Plan published in 2022. The board is 
accountable for those results as reported. 

 
Allan Seckel, KC Board Chair  
Aug. 17, 2023 
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Letter from the Board Chair & CEO 
We are pleased to submit the BC Housing 2022/23 Annual Service Plan Report. 

The past year has been one of substantial change at BC Housing, and we expect more change 
as we continue to strengthen BC Housing’s organizational structure and capacity, financial 
systems, governance practices, and processes and policies in response to the Financial 
Systems and Operational Review released in June 2022. The board of commissioners and 
leadership team at BC Housing understand that, in the face of the ongoing housing crisis in 
British Columbia, the work that we do remains more important than ever. Affordable housing 
continues to be a challenge throughout the entire province of B.C., and in 2022/23, BC 
Housing completed 4,503 units of affordable and supportive housing homes and provided 
rental assistance through the private market to 30,355 households.1  

Ongoing extreme weather highlights the continued need to not only increase housing supply, 
but to also build housing that is adaptative and resilient in the face of climate change. BC 
Housing recognizes that the housing and climate crises more significantly affect Indigenous, 
racialized and other marginalized populations. To address this, BC Housing has undertaken 
work on a number of different fronts in 2022/23. This included implementing a new 
Sustainability and Resiliency Framework and Extreme Heat and Wildfire Smoke Action Plan, as 
well as updating BC Housing’s Design Guidelines and Construction Standards to promote 
livability, health and safety, durability, sustainability, climate adaptation and resiliency. BC 
Housing has also supported the implementation of the BC Energy Step Code by adding a new 
condition to general contractor licenses, stipulating a two-year period to demonstrate 
competency in building to Step 3, as well as launching eight learning modules dedicated to 
the BC Energy Step Code. 

In addition to the above, BC Housing began to address recommendations in the Financial 
Systems and Operational Review in fall 2022. Since the release of the report, BC Housing has: 

• completed several of the recommendations related to the structure of its board and 
executive committee, including the participation of a ministry representative in 
meetings of the board of commissioners to enable better alignment with the Ministry 
of Housing and the clarification of duties and responsibilities of the executive 
committee through the drafting of a terms of reference; 

• elevated the chief information officer role to the level of vice-president and made 
information management and technology a standalone branch, recognizing the 
importance of information technology to drive and support innovation and enhanced 
user experience for tenants and staff; 

• updated the BC Housing delegation of authority framework. The framework allows for 
more effective board oversight, reduced administrative effort for staff, reduced risk of 
project delays and/or cost increases, and better information for decision-makers to 
approve projects; 

• updated the audit and risk management committee terms of reference to improve 
oversight of information technology matters; and 

 
1 Please refer to the footnote in Objective 1.1 for a full methodological explanation of how these figures were calculated. 

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/british-columbians-our-governments/organizational-structure/crown-corporations/ey-report-bc-housing.pdf
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/british-columbians-our-governments/organizational-structure/crown-corporations/ey-report-bc-housing.pdf
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/british-columbians-our-governments/organizational-structure/crown-corporations/ey-report-bc-housing.pdf
https://www.bchousing.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/Sustainability-and-Resilience-Strategy-Framework.pdf
https://www.bchousing.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/Sustainability-and-Resilience-Strategy-Framework.pdf
https://www.bchousing.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/Extreme-Heat-Response-Action-Plan%2B2022.pdf
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/british-columbians-our-governments/organizational-structure/crown-corporations/ey-report-bc-housing.pdf
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/british-columbians-our-governments/organizational-structure/crown-corporations/ey-report-bc-housing.pdf
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/british-columbians-our-governments/organizational-structure/crown-corporations/ey-report-bc-housing.pdf
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• worked toward implementing new processes and provisions for budget and financial 
reviews of housing providers, as well as updated governance practices to improve 
documentation and executive oversight. 

Although 2022/23 was a challenging year for BC Housing in many respects, we are proud of 
our accomplishments. 

 
 
 

Vincent Tong 
CEO, BC Housing 
Aug. 17, 2023 

Allan Seckel, 
KC Board 
Chair Aug. 17, 
2023 
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Purpose of the Annual Service Plan Report 
The annual service plan report has been developed to meet the requirements of the Budget 
Transparency and Accountability Act (BTAA), which sets out the legislative framework for 
planning, reporting and accountability for government organizations. Under the BTAA, a 
minister responsible for a government organization is required to make public a report about 
the actual results of that organization’s performance related to the forecasted targets stated 
in the service plan for the reported year. 

Strategic Direction 
The strategic direction set by the Province in 2020 and expanded upon in the board chair’s 
2021/22 Mandate Letter from the minister responsible shaped the goals, objectives, 
performance measures and financial plan outlined in the BC Housing 2022/23 – 2024/25 
Service Plan and the actual results reported on in the annual report. 

 

Purpose of the Organization 
BC Housing was created in 1967 through an order-in-council under the Ministry of Lands, Parks 
and Housing Act to deliver the provincial government’s commitment to the development, 
management and administration of housing. Under the Homeowner Protection Act, BC 
Housing also has responsibilities related to licensing of residential builders, administering 
owner-builder authorizations, overseeing home-warranty insurance, and carrying out 
research and education to improve the quality of residential construction and consumer 
protection. BC Housing has a board of commissioners that is responsible for corporate 
governance and an organizational structure with seven branches. Additional information 
about BC Housing’s corporate governance as well as the organization’s mandate, mission, 
vision and values can be found on the BC Housing website. 

  

https://www.bclaws.gov.bc.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/00023_01
https://www.bclaws.gov.bc.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/00023_01
https://www.bchousing.org/publications/mandate-letter-2021-2022.pdf
https://www.bcbudget.gov.bc.ca/2023/sp/pdf/agency/bch.pdf
https://www.bcbudget.gov.bc.ca/2023/sp/pdf/agency/bch.pdf
http://www.bclaws.ca/Recon/document/ID/freeside/00_96307_01
http://www.bclaws.ca/Recon/document/ID/freeside/00_96307_01
http://www.bclaws.ca/Recon/document/ID/freeside/00_96307_01
https://www.bclaws.gov.bc.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/98031_01
http://www.bchousing.org/
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Operating Environment 
BC Housing’s operating environment remained challenging on several different fronts in 
2022/23. At provincial, national and international levels, deteriorating housing affordability 
combined with high general price inflation has deepened the economic stress of households 
already experiencing shelter and food insecurity. Other compounding factors include the 
lasting effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and the ongoing toxic drug crisis. Homelessness and 
tent encampments have continued to exist and grow in many communities throughout B.C., 
despite concerted efforts on the part of BC Housing and its many partners to help people 
move to safe indoor accommodation. Generally, those low-income people and households 
disproportionately affected by these forces are Indigenous, racialized populations and other 
marginalized groups. 

Although home prices in B.C. have incrementally come down from their peak levels in spring 
2022, rising interest rates have also limited improvements in overall housing affordability for 
homebuyers and homeowners. Market rents have also increased steadily throughout B.C. as 
demand continues to outstrip supply. B.C.’s population grew by 2.8% over the past year, 
making it the highest annual growth rate since 1996. This population growth was bolstered by 
relatively high levels of international migration. 

While the demand for housing has remained high throughout the province, the supply of new 
housing has been negatively affected by higher interest rates, higher cost inflation, supply 
chain disruptions and tight labour market conditions. This has made it harder for BC Housing 
and its partners to create, maintain and protect affordable housing options. Changing 
community expectations about engagement for residential and mixed-use development 
projects are also increasing in scope, complexity and intensity. This trend is leading to 
extended timelines for many housing development projects, both public and private, due to 
longer municipal processes, resource pressures on housing partners and greater risk. 

The existing housing stock also faced multiple pressures in 2022/23. In a world increasingly 
shaped by unfolding ecological and climate crises, extreme weather, such as heatwaves and 
flooding, is becoming more frequent. Climate change poses a significant risk to the health 
and safety of residents, and as such, BC Housing is taking steps to address what it can. In 
addition to supporting climate change response, BC Housing’s security and emergency 
services team was involved in supporting BC Housing and local authorities in response to 29 
structural fires. These fires included privately owned rental and directly managed properties, 
single-family homes, supportive housing complexes and single-room-occupancy (SRO) 
buildings. The number of structural fires has trended upward over time, causing displacement 
of residents, tremendous strain on the rental stock in communities and exposing more people 
to the risk of homelessness. 

BC Housing’s activities and associated funding have grown substantially in recent years in 
response to the ongoing housing crisis. This has been driven by the Government of B.C.’s 
historic investment in housing affordability — more than $7 billion over 10 years. While BC 
Housing is building more housing than ever before, rapid expansion created a need to review 
BC Housing’s existing organizational capacity and financial systems and controls. The 
resulting Financial Systems and Operational Review of BC Housing by Ernst and Young, 

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/british-columbians-our-governments/organizational-structure/crown-corporations/ey-report-bc-housing.pdf
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/british-columbians-our-governments/organizational-structure/crown-corporations/ey-report-bc-housing.pdf
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released in June 2022, identified a number of areas for improvement. The board of 
commissioners, appointed in July 2022, has overseen and guided the work to plan and 
implement the review’s recommendations. All recommendations from the report were 
accepted by BC Housing, with the exception of harmonizing the terms and conditions in 
program frameworks. The recommendation was not accepted due to the lack of feasibility to 
consolidate more than 70 programs, many of which have long-standing agreements that 
would need to be renegotiated. 

As part of serving British Columbians and delivering programs and services that meet the 
housing needs of communities throughout the province, BC Housing touches the lives of 
many Indigenous, racialized and other marginalized populations. This brings with it an 
important responsibility to ensure the organization is one that is culturally safe and inclusive. 
In line with implementing the Province’s Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act 
(Declaration Act) and delivering the organization’s strategic direction and mandate, BC 
Housing is committed to working in partnership with Indigenous Peoples to embrace and 
implement the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (UNDRIP) and 
Truth and Reconciliation Commission (TRC) recommendations from the National Inquiry into 
Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women and Girls, which calls for more access to safe and 
culturally appropriate housing. BC Housing is also deeply committed to ensuring gender-
based analysis plus (GBA+) and equity, diversity, inclusion and belonging principles continue to 
be incorporated into all work. 

Reflecting these responsibilities and commitments, BC Housing has deepened its partnership 
and collaboration with people with lived experience, Indigenous Peoples, regional health 
authorities, municipal governments, non-profit housing and service providers, and the 
residential construction industry. Despite the challenging operating environment, BC 
Housing’s work through its Building BC programs and HousingHub is helping to create new 
supportive housing options for those experiencing homelessness, as well as affordable rental 
housing for low- and middle-income households. 

  

https://www.bclaws.gov.bc.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/19044
https://www.un.org/development/desa/indigenouspeoples/wp-content/uploads/sites/19/2018/11/UNDRIP_E_web.pdf
https://www.un.org/development/desa/indigenouspeoples/wp-content/uploads/sites/19/2018/11/UNDRIP_E_web.pdf
https://ehprnh2mwo3.exactdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/Calls_to_Action_English2.pdf
https://www.bchousing.org/projects-partners/Building-BC
https://www.bchousing.org/housinghub
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Report on Performance: Goals, Objectives, and Results 

Goal 1: Improved housing outcomes for British 
Columbians 

Objective 1.1: Increase the supply of secure, affordable and 
sustainable housing for people with low and moderate incomes 
through Building BC and HousingHub, and through providing 
rental assistance in the private market 
Key results 

• Completed 4,503 units of affordable and supportive housing and provided rental 
assistance in the private market to 30,355 households.2  

• Updated BC Housing’s Design Guidelines and Construction Standards to promote 
livability, health and safety, durability, sustainability, climate adaptation and 
resiliency, and help mitigate over-heating and wildfire-smoke-related risks. 

• Published the Indoor Environmental Quality of Social Housing Buildings in British 
Columbia report, which looked at indoor air qualities, such as temperature and 
humidity, that affect indoor environmental quality for residents in social housing 
units. 
 

Summary of progress made in 2022/23 
BC Housing’s programs aim to increase the supply of, access to and security of affordable and 
sustainable housing for those who need it most. This includes programs under Building BC 
(such as the Community Housing Fund, Indigenous Housing Fund, the Women’s Transition 
Housing Fund and the Supportive Housing Fund), HousingHub, and other capital funding and 
rental assistance for low- income households in the private market through the Shelter Aid For 
Elderly Renters (SAFER) program, Rental Assistance Program (RAP) and Canada-BC Housing 
Benefit (CBCHB) program. 

In 2022/23, BC Housing continued to make progress on several fronts under this objective. 
With respect to improving the quality of new and existing housing, in 2022/23 BC Housing 
issued two technical bulletins that revised the BC Housing Design Guidelines and Construction 
Standards. Technical Bulletin No. 2-2022 included a range of updates to enhance the efficiency, 
functionality, durability, health and safety, and livability aspects of housing units, and to 
optimize maintenance and operating aspects. Technical Bulletin No. 3-2023 revised 
requirements for passive design strategies and wildfire smoke filtration, aligned greenhouse 
gas intensity targets with CleanBC updates, minimized overheating risks by incorporating 
current weather data in energy modeling, and adopted overheating analysis requirements for 
major renovation projects. In a similar vein, BC Housing incorporated its Building 

 
2 Please refer to the footnote in Objective 1.1 for a full methodological explanation of how these figures were calculated. 

https://www.bchousing.org/research-centre/library/building-science-reports/indoor-environmental-quality-social-housing
https://www.bchousing.org/research-centre/library/building-science-reports/indoor-environmental-quality-social-housing
https://www.bchousing.org/projects-partners/Building-BC
https://www.bchousing.org/projects-partners/projects-partners/Building-BC/CHF
https://www.bchousing.org/projects-partners/Building-BC/IHF
https://www.bchousing.org/projects-partners/Building-BC/WTHF
https://www.bchousing.org/projects-partners/Building-BC/WTHF
https://www.bchousing.org/projects-partners/Building-BC/SHF
https://www.bchousing.org/housinghub
https://www.bchousing.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/BC-Housing-Construction-Standards-Technical-Bulletin-2-Sections-1-4-5.pdf
https://www.bchousing.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/BC-Housing-Design-Guidelines-and-Construction-Standards-Technical-Bulletin-No-3-Sections-2-and-4.pdf
https://www.bchousing.org/publications/BCH-Building-Commissioning-Guidelines.pdf


BC Housing 

2022/23 Annual Service Plan Report Page | 11 

 

 

Commissioning Guidelines into its Design Guidelines and Construction Standards, 
encompassing both new development and renovation/capital improvement projects. 

Among other benefits, a properly commissioned building will result in reduced energy 
consumption during building operation and improved occupant comfort, productivity and 
indoor air quality. 

In recognition that Indigenous people and other marginalized groups disproportionately 
experience homelessness and are more likely to live in non-market housing, BC Housing has 
been making strides to provide culturally appropriate housing. One example is House of 
Courage, Kwum Kwum Lelum, which completed construction in March 2023 in Victoria. Elders 
chose the name Kwum Kwum Lelum to recognize the courage and bravery of family members 
(program participants) as they begin their journey toward healing and recovery. Support 
offered at House of Courage is based on the dual model of housing care, which provides 
culturally supportive housing alongside decolonized harm reduction. Services and supports 
focus on strengthening Indigenous self-identity and building community while supporting 
healing and recovery. House of Courage is operated by the Aboriginal Coalition to End 
Homelessness Society (ACEHS), an experienced housing partner. 

BC Housing also began work to reconnect and engage with former Little Mountain residents 
about their current housing needs, such as family composition. Previous residents will have 
right of first refusal to the new homes built at Little Mountain. One building is operational and 
additional buildings will begin to come online during the next one to three years. BC Housing 
has engaged a consultant to connect with various stakeholders to develop a plan for 
community programming at Little Mountain. 

Finally, BC Housing worked with partners and stakeholders in the private and public housing 
sectors to share knowledge and build capacity so that new and existing housing stock can 
remain comfortable, safe and resilient to the effects of climate change. Under the Mobilizing 
Building Adaptation and Resilience (MBAR) initiative, BC Housing published the Climate-ready 
Housing Design Guide. The guide serves as a reference tool for housing providers, developers 
and other building industry professionals throughout B.C. on emergent best practices and 
recommended technical standards for more climate-ready housing design. BC Housing also 
published the Indoor Environmental Quality of Social Housing Buildings in British Columbia 
report, which looked at indoor air qualities, such as temperature and humidity, that affect 
indoor environmental quality for residents in social housing units. 

https://www.bchousing.org/publications/BCH-Building-Commissioning-Guidelines.pdf
https://www.bchousing.org/research-centre/library/residential-design-construction-guides/MBAR
https://www.bchousing.org/research-centre/library/residential-design-construction-guides/MBAR
https://www.bchousing.org/research-centre/library/residential-design-construction-guides/MBAR
https://www.bchousing.org/research-centre/library/residential-design-construction-guides/climate-ready-housing-design-guide
https://www.bchousing.org/research-centre/library/residential-design-construction-guides/climate-ready-housing-design-guide
https://www.bchousing.org/research-centre/library/residential-design-construction-guides/climate-ready-housing-design-guide
https://www.bchousing.org/research-centre/library/building-science-reports/indoor-environmental-quality-social-housing
https://www.bchousing.org/research-centre/library/building-science-reports/indoor-environmental-quality-social-housing
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Performance measure(s) and related discussion 
 

Performance Measure4 2021/22 Actual 2022/23 Target 2022/23 Actual 

1.1a Number of affordable and 
supportive housing homes 
completed, including affordable 
rental and social housing (including 
HousingHub)1 

 
 

5,245 

 
 

4,500 

 
 

4,503 

1.1b Number of households receiving 
rental assistance in the private 
market2,3 

 
32,546 

 
40,000 

 
30,355 

Data source: BC Housing’s Central Property System database. Programs reflected in measure 1.1 are Rapid Response to 
Homelessness, Affordable Rental Housing, Community Housing Fund, Indigenous Housing Fund, Supportive Housing 
Fund, Women’s Transition Housing Fund, Homelessness Action Plan, Provincial Investment in Affordable Housing, 
Community Partnership Initiatives, Housing Endowment Fund, Investment in Affordable Housing, Provincial Rental Supply 
Affordable Home Ownership Program, and other provincial and federal programs. 
1PM 1.1a targets for 2023/24 and 2024/25 were stated in the 2022/23 service plan as 3,000 and 3,000 respectively. 
2Data source: BC Housing’s Subsidy Management and Assisted Rental Tool (SMART) database. Programs reflected in measure 
1.1b include the SAFER program, RAP, and the CBCHB program. 
3PM 1.1b targets for 2023/24 and 2024/25 were stated in the 2022/23 service plan as 43,000 and 45,000 respectively. 
4The current methodology used to track unit progress will be the last year it is used. For forward-looking planning 
information, including current targets for 2023/24 – 2025/26, see the latest service plan on the BC Budget website. 

 
Targets are based on the completion of new homes created under existing development 
programs and reflect planned program funding levels and new initiatives. The targets reflect 
homes to be created through provincial commitments that support the acquisition and 
construction of affordable housing projects. 

The target for new affordable and supportive housing homes completed in 2022/23 was met. 
In 2022/23, 4,5033 new homes were completed in 49 communities throughout B.C. Of these 
homes, 3,855 were completed through BC Housing’s development programs: 148 homes 
under the Indigenous Housing Fund; 1,282 homes under the Community Housing Fund; 93 
homes under the Women’s Transition Housing Fund; 1,143 homes under Provincial Rental 
Supply; 412 homes under the Supportive Housing Fund; 60 homes under Pandemic Recovery; 
352 homes under Investment in Housing Innovation; 132 homes under the Canada Mortgage 
and Housing Corporation Rapid Housing Initiative; 133 homes under the Homelessness 
Action Plan; 100 homes under Affordable Rental Housing; and an additional 648 homes 
under other programs that were established before the Budget 2017 Update. 

 
3 The performance measure was calculated using the same methodology used to set the target in the Service Plan 2022/23. The 
2023-24 Service Plan includes two separate performance measures. One focuses on the number of homes completed annually 
under Building BC and related programs, including Affordable Rental Housing; Rapid Response to Homelessness; Deepening 
Affordability of Investment in Housing Innovation/Provincial Investment in Affordable Housing; Community Housing Fund; 
Women’s Transition Housing Fund; Supportive Housing Fund; Indigenous Housing Fund; Homelessness Action Plan; 
HousingHub; COVID-19 Action Plan; Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation Rapid Housing Initiative; and the Permanent 
Housing Plan. The other focuses on units completed with capital funding outside of Building BC and Housing Hub programs, 
including the Community Partnership Initiative; Federal Social Infrastructure Fund; Group Home Program; Housing Endowment 
Fund; Investment in Housing Innovation; Mental Health Housing; Provincial Investment in Affordable Housing, and the 
Provincial Matching of Federal Investment in Affordable Housing, among others programs. The performance measure in the 
Annual Service Plan Report includes units under all the programs. The Annual Service Plan Report for the next fiscal year will 
report out on the two measures separately. 

https://www.bcbudget.gov.bc.ca/default.htm
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Of these 4,503 new homes, 1,058 are two-bedroom units or larger and 388 units are wheelchair 
modified. While 395 homes are intended specifically for Indigenous residents, it is anticipated 
more will be occupied by Indigenous residents. By income, 1,548 homes are for households with 
very low income, 1,171 are for households with low to moderate income, and 1,784 are for 
middle-income households.4  
 
In 2022/23, 23,474 households were assisted through the SAFER program, 4,398 households 
were assisted under RAP, and 2,483 households received assistance under the CBCHB program. 
The target for number of households receiving rental assistance in the private market 
(Performance Measure 1.1b) was not met. A review of these rental assistance programs indicate 
that increasing rents and low vacancy rates are eroding the benefits to potential recipients as 
rent ceilings have not kept pace. 

Objective 1.2: Provide opportunities for greater housing stability 
for people experiencing homelessness 
Key results 

• Completed5 approximately 9006 supportive housing units for people experiencing or 
at risk of homelessness throughout B.C. 

• Worked with the Ministry of Housing, Ministry of Social Development and Poverty 
Reduction, Ministry of Health and other partners to implement strategies to respond to 
and prevent homelessness, including work on Belonging in BC, the provincial 
homelessness plan and Integrated Support Framework. 

• Supported the Ministry of Mental Health and Addictions (MMHA) in work with other 
ministries and partners to implement complex-care housing, which provides an 
enhanced level of integrated health and social supports for people requiring higher 
intensity supports than those currently provided in supportive housing. 

• Initiated the Homeless Individual and Families Information System (HIFIS) 
community deployment project to broaden access to HIFIS to non-BC-Housing-
funded shelter and support organizations throughout B.C. to enable enhanced co-
ordination of services and information for people experiencing homelessness 
across service providers, regardless of funding sources. 

 

Summary of progress made in 2022/23 
In Budget 2022, the Province announced an investment of $633 million over the next three 
years to develop a provincial homelessness strategy. The Ministry of Housing is the lead, with 
BC Housing, Ministry of Health, and Ministry of Social Development and Poverty Reduction 

 
4 BC Housing has different definitions of low income depending on the program or service it relates to. With respect to low- and 
moderate-income limits under Build BC in 2023, the gross household income limit was $82,310 for residential units with less 
than two bedrooms. For residential units with two or more bedrooms in 2023, the gross household income limit was $128,810. 
With respect to middle-income limits for HousingHub projects, the gross household income threshold was $126,050 for 
residential units with less than two bedrooms and $182,870 for residential units with two or more bedrooms. 
5 Completed indicates that the project has received an occupancy permit. 
6 This figure includes units from the Supportive Housing Fund, Homelessness Action Plan, Permanent Housing Plan and CMHC’s 
Rapid Housing Initiative. 
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collaborating on the design, development and implementation of the cross-government 
integrated services response to homelessness. The Supported Rental Supplement Program 
(SRSP) aims to reduce and prevent homelessness by providing people access to clinical and 
non-clinical support services and rental assistance through CBCHB7, with the goal of helping 
people to live well and independently in private market housing. Throughout 2022/23, BC 
Housing and its ministry partners finalized the program framework and agreement for this 
innovative program; and launched a province-wide request for proposals (RFP) for community 
providers of the SRSP and CBCHB. Interest within the sector for the RFP was strong and BC 
Housing will be in a position to allocate 700 rent supplements in the first year of the program. 

Through partnership with MMHA, BC Housing has supported the creation of the new 
complex-care- housing model, which supports people with severe mental-health or 
substance-use issues, or traumatic and acquired brain injuries, who are homeless or unstably 
housed. The first four complex- care-housing sites were announced in Surrey, Abbotsford and 
Vancouver in late 2022. 

In 2022/23, BC Housing’s security and emergency services team was involved in supporting BC 
Housing and local authorities in response to 29 structural fires. These fires included privately 
owned rental and directly managed properties, single-family homes, supportive housing 
complexes and SRO buildings. The number of structural fires has trended upward over time, 
causing displacement of residents and tremendous strain on the rental stock in communities, 
as well as exposing more people to the risk of homelessness. To help address this, BC Housing 
has launched an internal fire-reduction working group to develop recommendations to reduce 
the frequency, severity and effect of fires within shelters, SROs and long-term housing that BC 
Housing funds or operates. BC Housing is also collaborating with Vancouver Fire and Rescue 
Service, the Office of the Fire Commissioner and the Fire Chiefs Association of BC to address 
the issue. 

In addition, BC Housing has continued to work with the Ministry of Housing on lease extensions 
and finding long-term permanent housing solutions that meet the needs of residents in 
temporary accommodations that opened as part of the COVID-19 pandemic response. 

BC Housing has the provincial license for HIFIS, a system developed by the federal 
government to enhance co-ordination and data management for shelter and other support 
providers that deliver services to people experiencing homelessness. To increase co-
ordination of supports and services, BC Housing initiated a project to expand access and use 
of the HIFIS system beyond service providers funded by BC Housing. This project is underway 
as of 2022/23, phase 1 involves onboarding 10 B.C. communities receiving federal Reaching 
Home: Canada’s Homelessness Strategy funding as designated communities. Bringing on all 
service providers is planned by the end of 2023/24 and will create better systems of services 
and supports, while also enabling better data about homelessness at service-provider, 
community and provincial levels. 

  

 
7 The CBCHB is federal funding under the National Housing Strategy that provides rent assistance to make renting in the private 
market more affordable, while the SRSP provides services to CBCHB recipients to enable them to transition to or remain in 
stable market housing while improving their personal well-being. 
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Performance measure(s) and related discussion 
 

Performance Measure 2021/22 Actual 2022/23 Target 2022/23 Actual 

1.2 Percentage of homeless 
individuals accessing housing who 
remain housed six months after 
placement1 

 
94% 

 
84% 

 
92% 

Data source: The Housing Registry’s Housing Connections software 
1PM 1.2 targets for 2023/24 and 2024/25 were stated in the 2022/23 service plan as 86% and 87% respectively. For forward-
looking planning information, including current targets for 2023/24 – 2025/26, see the latest service plan on the BC Budget 
website. 

 
The performance measure focuses on housing stability as a key component to breaking the 
cycle of homelessness. This is because people who are exiting homelessness often face barriers 
to staying housed long-term due to a lack of supports. Performance measure 1.2 focuses on the 
number of people experiencing homelessness who have remained housed six months from the 
date when they moved into their home. 

In 2022/23, the target was surpassed, as 92% of people previously experiencing homelessness 
remained housed six months after placement. Targets for the performance measure are based 
on historical trends. The results of the performance measure reflect BC Housing’s collaboration 
with a range of partners to bring needed clinical and non-clinical supports to residents who are 
exiting homelessness. These partners are non-profit housing providers and health authorities, 
as well as the Ministry of Health and the Ministry of Social Development and Poverty Reduction. 

Objective 1.3: Ensure buyers of new homes are protected through 
strengthening consumer protections and compliance with the 
Homeowner Protection Act 
Key results 

• Added a new condition to general contractor license that stipulates a two-year 
period to demonstrate competency in building to Step 3 of the BC Energy Step 
Code. 

• Created and launched eight learning modules on BC Housing’s Learning on 
Demand platform dedicated to the BC Energy Step Code. 

• Launched a consumer awareness campaign to raise the public profile and 
awareness of home-warranty insurance in B.C. and the work of BC Housing’s 
licensing and consumer services branch. 

 
Summary of progress made in 2022/23 
The BC Energy Step Code is a building standard designed to help government and industry 
create a future where all new construction in B.C. is net-zero-energy ready by 2032. The BC 
Energy Step Code sets performance targets for new construction that increase in "steps" with 
increasingly higher performance targets across building types and regions of the province. 
Starting May 2023, most new construction in B.C. must be 20% more energy efficient than base 
2018 BC Building Code. In preparation for the higher energy-efficiency standard, BC Housing 

https://www.bcbudget.gov.bc.ca/default.htm
https://www.bcbudget.gov.bc.ca/default.htm
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added a new condition to general contractor licenses in 2022/23, which stipulates a two-year 
period to demonstrate competency in building to Step 3 of the BC Energy Step Code. The 
condition will be added when a license is renewed and came into effect starting with licenses 
that expired Sept. 30, 2022. While the condition will be added to all licenses, there may be 
exemptions for general contractors that have already been building to Step 3 of the BC Energy 
Step Code or have completed relevant and equivalent training. 

In 2022/23, BC Housing also launched a consumer awareness campaign to raise the public 
profile of home-warranty insurance in B.C. as well as the work of the licensing and consumer 
services branch. The campaign focused on helping future homebuyers and current 
homeowners understand: 

• the basics of home-warranty insurance in B.C. and their rights and responsibilities; and 

• how the home-warranty-insurance system works, what it covers, how to get the most 
out of it and what to do if a possible defect is found. 

To raise consumer awareness, BC Housing conducted a Google ads campaign. The campaign 
saw 1,939 more clicks on relevant webpages and documents related to home warranty during 
the campaign than in the preceding 38 days. As part of the initial launch, Homebuilders 
Association Vancouver (HAVAN) interviewed the executive director and registrar of licensing 
and consumer services as part of their masterclass series. The interview was posted online on 
the HAVAN website in June 2023 and speaks about the basics of home warranty, such as what 
is covered and how to maintain coverage. Presentations about the same topics were also 
made at the RBC Mortgage Brokers Event and other realty organizations, which educated the 
industry about home-warranty insurance as part of the wider home-warranty awareness 
campaign. 

BC Housing continued its work to support industry readiness in meeting emerging priorities and 
to improve housing quality through technical research and education, serving both the 
construction industry and consumers. A variety of topics were covered in 2022/23, including 
economics of mass timber, earthquake performance in new buildings, balcony overloading and 
weight restrictions, and modular construction. BC Housing also sponsored industry and 
homebuyer/homeowner events through 2022/23, including conferences and other educational 
opportunities. 

Performance measure(s) and related discussion 
 

Performance Measure 2021/22 Actual 2022/23 Target 2022/23 Actual 

1.3 Builders’ rating of the 
effectiveness of compliance efforts 
to monitor and enforce licensing 
and home warranty insurance 
requirements, and the owner-
builder exemption regarding 
home warranty insurance1 

 

 
89% 

 

 
80% or higher 

 

 
88% 

Data source: Annual Licensed Residential Builder Survey 
1PM 1.3 targets for 2023/24 and 2024/25 were stated in the 2022/23 service plan as 80% or higher and 80% or higher, 
respectively. For forward-looking planning information, including current targets for 2023/24 – 2025/26, see the latest 
service plan on the BC Budget website. 

https://havan.ca/home-buying-masterclass/
https://havan.ca/home-buying-masterclass/
https://havan.ca/home-buying-masterclass/
https://havan.ca/home-buying-masterclass/
https://havan.ca/home-buying-masterclass/
https://www.bcbudget.gov.bc.ca/default.htm
https://www.bcbudget.gov.bc.ca/default.htm
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This is a measure of the overall health of the builder licensing, home-warranty insurance and 
owner-builder authorization system, where compliance issues are dealt with quickly and 
effectively by the licensing and consumer services branch. Assessment of performance is best 
done by industry participants (licensed residential builders) that operate their businesses 
within the regulatory framework. 

Targets are based on past trends, recognition that reducing instances of non-compliance 
continues to be an area for business improvement, and on strategic initiatives underway to 
enhance compliance efforts each year over the three-year service-planning period. 

In the 2022/23 Annual Licensed Residential Builder survey, 88% of builders expressed that 
compliance efforts were “very effective” or “effective.” The result exceeds the target of 80% by 
8%. The results reflect BC Housing’s ongoing work to ensure fair and effective administration of 
the mandatory provisions of the Homeowner Protection Act, which includes ensuring all new 
homes in B.C. are constructed by a licensed residential builder and have mandatory home-
warranty-insurance coverage in place (or an applicable exemption). 

Goal 2: Strengthen BC Housing service programs and 
community housing sector capacity 

Objective 2.1: Support a people-centred approach to enhancing 
services for tenants with directly managed housing as well as 
within the broader social housing sector and marginalized 
communities 
Key results 

• Implemented a stakeholder engagement process that elevates the inclusion of 
existing tenants. 

• Released the Extreme Heat and Wildfire Smoke Action Plan, which will help ensure 
that BC Housing is prepared to support people living in the community housing 
sector and assist partners during periods of extreme heat and wildfire smoke. 

• Collaborated with non-profit housing providers to include daycare spaces when 
developing housing, resulting in 37 projects with space for daycares in differing 
stages of development. 

 
Summary of progress made in 2022/23 
Delivering safe, affordable and quality housing requires collaboration with and learning 
alongside tenants and housing partners, as well as the active consideration and application of 
the principles of equity, diversity, inclusion and belonging. Reflecting this, BC Housing has 
initiated work to develop a set of tenant relocation standards and an accompanying 
implementation toolkit that will support BC Housing and the community housing sector to 
carry out tenant relocations resulting from renovations or redevelopment. The goal is to 
ensure that trauma and culturally informed principles are applied to the development of 
tenant relocation plans based on the client’s individual need. This holds the operator more 

https://www.bclaws.gov.bc.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/98031_01
https://bchmc.sharepoint.com/sites/ServiceTeamAnnualReport/Shared%20Documents/General/Annual%20Report%202022-23/2022-23%20Crown%20ASPR%20Version%201.docx
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accountable for reducing harm caused by the relocation process and ensures tenants are 
appropriately supported. In addition to the tenant relocation standards, BC Housing 
implemented a stakeholder engagement process for redevelopment projects that includes a 
specific plan for existing tenants. Engagement and notification of all public activity and/or 
invitation for input is to occur with tenants first. 

In June 2022, BC Housing released its Extreme Heat and Wildfire Smoke Action Plan, which 
provides an overview of key priority areas, short and long-term actions, and timelines to 
respond to extreme heat and wildfire smoke. The action plan will be reviewed annually and 
will help ensure: 

• community housing residents and homeless shelter clients are protected from the 
adverse effects of extreme heat and wildfire smoke; 

• non-profit housing providers have access to the tools and resources they may 
need during periods of extreme heat and wildfire smoke; 

• new construction projects and existing buildings are more resilient to more 
extreme heat and wildfire smoke, which are projected to become more frequent in 
the coming decades; and 

• BC Housing evolves its role in supporting sector-wide and community readiness for 
extreme heat and wildfire smoke. 

 
In addition to the work on the action plan, BC Housing has procured and distributed cooling 
kits and supplies as well as collaborated on research to better understand the real-life 
experiences of residents during extreme heat. 
 
Performance measure(s) and related discussion 

 

Performance Measure 2021/22 Actual 2022/23 Target2 2022/23 Actual 

2.1 Percentage of clients reporting 
satisfaction with the quality and 
safety of their housing1 

 
76% 

 
N/A 

 
76% 

1 Data source: BC Housing’s tenant engagement survey. The survey question from which the measure is derived is worded as 
follows: “How would you rate BC Housing’s overall performance in meeting your housing needs?” 
2PM 2.1 targets for 2023/24 and 2024/25 were stated in the 2022/23 service plan as N/A and 75% or higher, respectively. For 
forward-looking planning information, including current targets for 2023/24 – 2025/26, see the latest service plan on the BC 
Budget website. 

 
This measure is intended to focus on how programs and services are delivered to drive 
positive outcomes for tenants living in housing directly managed by BC Housing. Specifically, 
this is a measure to determine whether directly managed tenants are satisfied with their 
housing and are receiving the services and support they need. Feedback from tenants living in 
BC Housing’s directly managed homes is obtained through a survey that occurs every two 
years. The next iteration of the survey will be fielded in fall 2023 and results will be known in 
spring 2024. 

The previous survey took place in 2020/21 with a result of 76%, which indicates that most 
respondents are either “very satisfied” or “satisfied” with their overall housing situation. 
Targets are based on previous performance and results from the tenant survey. 

https://bchmc.sharepoint.com/sites/ServiceTeamAnnualReport/Shared%20Documents/General/Annual%20Report%202022-23/2022-23%20Crown%20ASPR%20Version%201.docx
https://www.bcbudget.gov.bc.ca/default.htm
https://www.bcbudget.gov.bc.ca/default.htm
https://www.bcbudget.gov.bc.ca/default.htm
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The performance metric reflects the ongoing work of BC Housing on several fronts. For 
example, BC Housing’s People, Plants and Homes (PPH) program builds and manages 
community gardens and provides resources, workshops and support to gardeners and 
community leaders at buildings that are directly managed by BC Housing. Other BC Housing 
initiatives for residents of directly managed sites include the Student Tenant Employment 
Program (STEP) and Tenant Activity Grant. As well, BC Housing has also undertaken work to 
address risks associated with extreme heat for its tenants. 

Objective 2.2: Collaborate and support non-profit and co-operative 
housing partners to ensure long-term provision of social and 
affordable housing 
Key results 

• Collaborated with sector organizations, including the BC Non-Profit Housing 
Association (BCNPHA), Co-operative Housing Federation of BC (CHFBC) and 
Aboriginal Housing Management Association (AHMA) to support landlords and 
tenants through training, education, research and services for several strategic 
initiatives, such as environmental sustainability and building resilience. 

• Developed and implemented educational opportunities for BC Housing and the 
community housing sector to build understanding and competencies to adopt the 
principles of equity, diversity, inclusion and belonging. 

• Supported the community housing sector with technology modernization and 
cybersecurity protections through services provided by BC Housing. 

Summary of progress made in 2022/23 
BC Housing continued to support the BCNPHA in the delivery of their operations and 
maintenance program, which aims to build energy-management capacity in the housing 
sector, enhance energy savings, reduce greenhouse gas emissions and encourage tenant 
buy-in and engagement. Courses offered through the operations and maintenance program 
include asset management foundations, building systems, new construction and 
redevelopment, and green asset management. 

BC Housing also supported further education and training in the non-profit housing sector 
through several activities, such as support for BCNPHA to create and offer a series of 
educational sessions for community housing leaders to expand GBA+ and equity, diversity, 
inclusion and belonging principles in the housing sector. These sessions align with 
recommendations from the first phase of BC Housing’s reconciliation strategy that calls for the 
removal of discriminatory barriers in systems, structures and interpersonal interactions. 

BC Housing also facilitated sector learning and networking opportunities through sponsorship 
of Housing Central Conference; Canadian Alliance to End Homelessness’ (CAEH) conference; 
Canadian Housing & Renewal Association’s (CHRA) Congress; First Nations Housing 
Professionals Association’s (FNHPA) conference; and BCNPHA’s Regional Education and 
Networking Tradeshows. As well, BC Housing, in partnership with BCNPHA; BC Society of 
Transition Houses; Homelessness Services Association of BC; and CHFBC, has developed an 

https://www.bchousing.org/housing-assistance/tenant-programs-resources/community-programs-services/people-plants-homes
https://www.bchousing.org/housing-assistance/tenant-programs-resources/community-programs-services/people-plants-homes
https://www.bchousing.org/housing-assistance/tenant-programs-resources/community-programs-services/student-tenant-employment-program
https://www.bchousing.org/housing-assistance/tenant-programs-resources/community-programs-services/student-tenant-employment-program
https://www.bchousing.org/housing-assistance/tenant-programs-resources/community-programs-services/tenant-activity-grant
https://bcnpha.ca/events/housing-central-conference/
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education grant program to help ensure the non- profit housing sector can attend learning 
events despite limited staff capacity and cost. 

Other education and training included workshops in collaboration with medical health officers 
about how to create an extreme heat and wildfire smoke response plan at BCNPHA’s Regional 
Education, Networking and Tradeshow (RENT) in spring 2022. In collaboration with BCNPHA 
and Vancouver Coastal Health, BC Housing hosted a webinar for the non-profit housing sector 
that included presentations from a medical health officer and three different non-profit 
housing and shelter providers. The recording is available on the BC Housing and BCNPHA 
websites. 

BC Housing’s ongoing collaboration and dialogue with the non-profit housing sector is 
important to increase sector capacity and accountability, and drive positive outcomes for 
clients, tenants and partners. As part of BC Housing’s operating agreements with non-profit 
housing providers, BC Housing carries out operational reviews to provide oversight. The 
operational review process and information technology (IT) system design was completed by 
the end of 2022/23. Beta testing for both the process and IT system are underway. 

 
Over the past few years, there has been an increased need for cyber security awareness 
training, help with migration to the cloud, and to develop an information technology strategic 
plan. To ensure the sector is continuing to build digital competency, BC Housing has launched 
training via its ITConnect event, which takes place three times a year. Sessions during the 
event include MS Suite (SharePoint, OneDrive, Teams, Excel and Outlook), as well as multiple 
sessions about cyber security, privacy and freedom of information (FOI), HIFIS and the 
NonProfit Portal. Toward the end of 2022/23, BC Housing launched a housing provider 
information technology grant program to help non-profit housing providers with active 
operating agreements with BC Housing. After reviewing mandatory requirements and 
submissions, 255 providers were approved for a grant. 

 
Performance measure(s) and related discussion 

Performance Measure 2021/22 Actual 2022/23 Target 2022/23 Actual 

2.2 Percentage of non-profit and 
co- op housing providers positively 
rating BC Housing’s capacity 
building efforts 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

 
The intention of this new performance measure, introduced in the 2022/23 – 2024/25 Service 
Plan, was to report on BC Housing’s work in building non-profit and co-op housing sector 
capacity, as well as progress regarding non-profit providers’ and co-ops’ relationship with BC 
Housing. The performance measure was proposed with the understanding it would be a 
working measure. BC Housing later recognized that the performance measure would create 
an administrative burden for providers because data would have to be collected manually.  

  



BC Housing 

2022/23 Annual Service Plan Report Page | 21 

 

 

Therefore, the measure was not tracked in 2022-2023 and new measures were proposed in the 
2023/24 – 2025/26 Service Plan. 

As discussed in the preceding section, BC Housing has undertaken significant work in 
2022/23 to build capacity among non-profit and co-op housing providers through education 
and training for a range of topics. In addition, BC Housing re-started several initiatives that 
were paused due to the COVID-19 pandemic, such as SkillsPlus. SkillsPlus provides education 
and training about building maintenance for non-profit housing providers. 

Objective 2.3: Improve the quality of existing social housing 
through new provincial investments 
Key results 

• Delivered BC Housing programs that help improve the quality, sustainability, 
climate change adaptation and resiliency, safety and accessibility of existing 
social housing. 

• Conducted pilot projects, research and education for the residential 
construction industry that support industry transformation toward 
sustainable, equitable and resilient building practices. 

• Updated BC Housing’s Design Guidelines and Construction Standards to 
reflect best practices and improve livability for residents. 

 
Summary of progress made in 2022/23 
The social housing stock is aging, with many buildings approaching a time when major 
components require replacement or repair, and modernization of the stock is essential. 
Therefore, while increasing the supply of housing is an important focus of the Province and BC 
Housing, it is equally important that existing social housing is maintained to ensure it remains 
in good condition for current and future residents, to meet targets for greenhouse emission 
reductions, and to ensure that public investment in the infrastructure is protected. BC Housing 
has supported improvements and preservation of existing social housing stock through 
energy retrofits and building-envelope upgrades, work with housing providers to identify 
priority capital-renewal projects and the provision of funding for maintenance and 
rehabilitation through various programs. BC Housing also continues to work with community 
housing sector partners to understand and establish responses to their capacity needs. 

To improve the quality of housing in 2022/23, BC Housing undertook several activities, such as 
issuing two technical bulletins that revised the BC Housing Design Guidelines and 
Construction Standards. Technical Bulletin No. 2-2022 provided a range of updates to enhance 
the efficiency, functionality, durability, health and safety, and livability aspects of housing 
units, and to optimize maintenance and operating aspects. Technical Bulletin No. 3-2023 
revised requirements for passive design strategies and wildfire smoke filtration; aligned 
greenhouse gas intensity targets with CleanBC updates; helped minimize overheating risks by 
incorporating current weather data in energy modeling; and adopted overheating analysis 
requirements for major renovation projects. BC Housing’s Building Commissioning Guidelines, 
which encompass new development and renovation/capital improvement projects, were also 
updated to help ensure buildings are properly commissioned. This will help reduce energy 

https://www.bchousing.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/BC-Housing-Construction-Standards-Technical-Bulletin-2-Sections-1-4-5.pdf
https://www.bchousing.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/BC-Housing-Design-Guidelines-and-Construction-Standards-Technical-Bulletin-No-3-Sections-2-and-4.pdf
https://www.bchousing.org/publications/BCH-Building-Commissioning-Guidelines.pdf
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consumption and improve occupant comfort, productivity and indoor air quality during 
building operation. 

In addition, BC Housing worked with partners and stakeholders in the housing sector to share 
knowledge and build capacity through initiatives, such as the Mobilizing Building Adaptation 
and Resilience (MBAR) project, so that new and existing stock can remain comfortable, safe 
and resilient to the effects of climate change. As part of MBAR, BC Housing published the 
Climate-ready Housing Design Guide. The guide serves as a reference tool for housing 
providers, developers and other building industry professionals throughout B.C. on emergent 
best practices and recommended technical standards for more climate-ready housing design. 
BC Housing also sponsored BC Building Envelope Council’s (BCBEC) November 2022 
conference, which explored challenges in designing, constructing and repairing buildings for 
greater resiliency and energy efficiency. The event was attended by approximately 300 
architects, engineers, builders and other industry professionals. 

 
Performance measure(s) and related discussion 

 

Performance Measure 2021/22 Actual 2022/23 Target 2022/23 Actual 

2.3 Facility Condition Index1 19% 16 to 21 % 18% 
Data source: Physical building condition assessments of building systems, sub-systems and components are tracked by BC 
Housing and used to calculate the facility condition index. The index quantifies the physical condition of the social housing 
stock 
1PM 2.3 targets for 2023/24 and 2024/25 were stated in the 2022/23 Service Plan as 16 to 21% and 16 to 21%, respectively. 
For forward-looking planning information, including current targets for 2023/24 – 2025/26, see the latest service plan on the 
BC Budget website.  
 
Targets are set to reflect an acceptable service level for buildings and building conditions for 
residents. As of March 31, 2023, results indicated a portfolio facility condition index (FCI)8 

rating of 18%, which is within the targeted range of 16% to 21%. The result of 18% for the 
social housing stock consists of: 

• 22% for the directly managed portfolio; and 
• 19% for the non-profit portfolio. 

On average, buildings in BC Housing’s directly managed portfolio are older than those 
in the non-profit housing sector. 

Key factors that contributed to achieving the target are: 

• improvements in the quality of life and safety of the homes for residents throughout the 
province; 

• ongoing capital spending on the rehabilitation of buildings; 
• significant efforts by BC Housing and BCNPHA to increase capacity for asset management 

and facility maintenance, including capital-planning courses and resources for housing 
providers; 

 
8 The FCI is an indication of the average condition of buildings. The FCI is calculated as the cost of a building’s renewal and 
replacement needs divided by its replacement cost, expressed as a percentage, and a lower percentage corresponds to a 
building in better condition. The FCI is used to assist with investment decisions and strategic direction regarding capital 
planning and rehabilitation budgets for social housing. Without adequate continued investment in the existing social housing 
stock, the FCI rises over time. 

https://www.bchousing.org/research-centre/library/residential-design-construction-guides/MBAR
https://www.bchousing.org/research-centre/library/residential-design-construction-guides/MBAR
https://www.bchousing.org/research-centre/library/residential-design-construction-guides/MBAR
https://www.bchousing.org/research-centre/library/residential-design-construction-guides/climate-ready-housing-design-guide
https://www.bchousing.org/research-centre/library/residential-design-construction-guides/climate-ready-housing-design-guide
https://www.bcbudget.gov.bc.ca/default.htm
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• improved accuracy of calculations made possible by updates to BC Housing’s data and 
systems collaboration with housing providers; and 

• increased number of new units have shifted the overall FCI due to higher condition ratings. 
 

Goal 3: Strong Indigenous partnerships and 
relationships based on principles of reconciliation 
and the Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous 
Peoples Act 
Objective 3.1: Advance BC Housing’s relationship with Indigenous 
Peoples and communities in British Columbia through 
reconciliation 
Key results 

• Initiated work on a multi-year plan that considered short-, medium- and long-
term recommendations from the Reconciliation: Moving Forward Together 
report, which will inform BC Housing’s reconciliation strategy. 

• Collaborated with Indigenous communities and First Nations to create housing 
options. 

• Improved housing conditions in First Nations communities and on reserves 
through partnerships in asset management, capital planning and homeowner 
education. 

• Delivered education and training sessions to BC Housing staff and partners 
about implementing United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous 
Peoples and Truth and Reconciliation Commission recommendations. 

 
Summary of progress made in 2022/23 
BC Housing is committed to reconciliation with Indigenous Peoples. As a landlord, employer, 
partner and funder of affordable housing programs, BC Housing touches the lives of many 
Indigenous people. BC Housing continues its journey toward reconciliation with Indigenous 
Peoples and is developing a reconciliation strategy that will consider the short-, medium- and 
long-term recommendations from the Reconciliation: Moving Forward Together report. 
Reconciliation requires a deep reckoning with the truth, a commitment to justice and ongoing 
efforts to build relationships that enable meaningful change. This work must be at a pace that 
allows for building and sustaining relationships with Indigenous Peoples and communities, 
and that results in co-creating and walking this path together. 

In 2022/23, BC Housing began piloting a new client-relationship management system to better 
track communications and relationships with Indigenous communities and partners. The long-
term plan is to leverage the system to track all Indigenous-related communications and data 
throughout BC Housing, which will help maintain ongoing conversations and ensure housing 

https://www.bchousing.org/publications/Reconciliation-Moving-Forward-Together.pdf
https://www.un.org/development/desa/indigenouspeoples/wp-content/uploads/sites/19/2018/11/UNDRIP_E_web.pdf
https://www.un.org/development/desa/indigenouspeoples/wp-content/uploads/sites/19/2018/11/UNDRIP_E_web.pdf
https://ehprnh2mwo3.exactdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/Calls_to_Action_English2.pdf
https://ehprnh2mwo3.exactdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/Calls_to_Action_English2.pdf
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information is maintained in an accessible and centralized system. 

With respect to employee education, BC Housing has drafted a reconciliation learning 
framework based on the recommendations outlined in the Declaration on the Rights of 
Indigenous Peoples Act 2022-2027 Action Plan, the final report on Missing and Murdered 
Indigenous Women and Girls, the Truth and Reconciliation Commission Report, and the 
information and recommendations presented in the Reconciliation: Moving Forward Together 
report. The learning framework embeds a transformative learning approach to reconciliation 
to meet people where they are in their reconciliation journey, while also building their overall 
well-being and tenacity to unlearn limiting beliefs and re-learn untold histories. The learning 
framework will be used as an overarching guide to determine categories of training and 
experiences that will enable employee capacity and competency development as needed and 
based on their specific function within BC Housing. 

Other education-related activities in 2022/23 included holding three one-day “Working 
Effectively with Indigenous Peoples” workshops by Indigenous Corporate Training, with 
attendance by 112 BC Housing employees. The workshop is required for BC Housing staff to 
equip them with relevant cultural knowledge and Indigenous history, and ensure they can 
work more respectfully, effectively and collaboratively with Indigenous communities and 
families. In addition, BC Housing held four reconciliation internal dialogue sessions for 
employees. The interactive and participatory learning series brought together approximately 
30 employees to reflect on their personal connection to reconciliation by using a sharing circle 
format. The participants shared many insights about their personal journeys of reconciliation, 
and together, created a more fulsome understanding of the journey BC Housing is on and the 
many perspectives that must be reconciled to effectively move forward as an organization. 

BC Housing and the First Nations Housing and Infrastructure Council (FNHIC) worked through 
2022/23 to identify ways to collaborate and support the Indigenous control and management 
of housing in BC. For example, BC Housing is a research partner on the Serving Rural & 
Remote Communities: Co-developing Place-Based Climate Resilient Solutions project, which 
will co-develop community-based solutions that lead to better housing and safer technical 
equipment in the face of changing climates in remote, rural and Indigenous communities. 
University researchers will work with the FNHIC, BC Housing and Technical Safety BC to 
develop and deliver the research. Work on the project proposal began in 2022/23 and funding 
approval was received in April 2023. 

On reserve, BC Housing is working to bolster asset-management and capacity-building 
activities to positively affect the quality of Indigenous housing. While BC Housing has much 
to offer, there is much to learn about how First Nations overcome unique barriers to access 
safe, sustainable and affordable housing. In this vein, various partnerships have been 
initiated with First Nations to develop and share best practices in residential asset 
management, while also learning about these unique barriers. This work is enabled through 
memorandums of understanding (MOUs) with several First Nations. In 2022/23, one new 
MOU was signed with Wuikinuxv Kitasoo/Xai’xais Nuxalk Tribal Council and four MOUs with 
Scw’exmc Tribal Council, Tsilhqot’in National Government, Nisga’a Lisims Government and 
Ktunaxa/Shuswap were extended to accommodate work delays from the COVID-19 
pandemic. BC Housing committed to bringing SkillsPlus asset-management training to each 
of the MOU partner communities between May and September 2023. 

https://pics.uvic.ca/projects/serving-rural-remote-communities-co-developing-place-based-climate-resilient-solutions
https://pics.uvic.ca/projects/serving-rural-remote-communities-co-developing-place-based-climate-resilient-solutions
https://pics.uvic.ca/projects/serving-rural-remote-communities-co-developing-place-based-climate-resilient-solutions
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Off-reserve, BC Housing has ongoing collaborations with the Aboriginal Housing 
Management Association and the Indigenous non-profit housing sector. The Indigenous 
Housing Fund (IHF) program operates in partnership with AHMA, First Nations, Indigenous 
non-profit housing providers and non-profit housing providers with a focus on Indigenous 
clients. A total of 148 units were funded from the IHF in 2022/23 and another 247 units for 
Indigenous clients were funded through other programs. Throughout 2022/23, BC Housing 
also continued to advance the: 

• Snuneymuwx First Nation partnership under the multi-site MOU, in addition to 
advancing the Te’tuxwtun project (previously Sanala) through to rezoning; and 

• Redevelopment of Robron Village in Campbell River as an Indigenous-centred 
project, serving urban Indigenous families with children, in collaboration with 
AHMA. 

BC Housing has also undertaken work to advance development of Indigenous housing design 
guidelines. In 2022/23, work focused on engagement with Indigenous housing providers, 
Indigenous organizations and practitioners with respect to the evolution of Indigenous 
housing design guidelines in a manner that addressed diverse Indigenous interests and 
priorities. The information gathered through engagement is an initial step to advance new 
design guidelines for the design and development of Indigenous housing that respect and 
reflect self-determination, self-governance and meaningful reconciliation. These insights will 
also inform BC Housing’s overarching reconciliation strategy, which will chart a path forward 
for the organization. 

Performance measure(s) and related discussion 
 

Performance Measure 2021/22 Actual 2022/23 Target 2022/23 Actual 

3.1 Progressive Aboriginal Relations 
(PAR) certification 1 

Gold Gold Gold 

Data source: The Canadian Council for Aboriginal Business. BC Housing’s current PAR certification is valid from 2021/22 
through 2023/24. Certification occurs every three years and is next scheduled for 2024/25. 
1PM 3.1 targets for 2023/24 and 2024/25 were stated in the 2022/23 Service Plan as gold and gold respectively. For forward-
looking planning information, including current targets for 2023/24 – 2025/26, see the latest service plan on the BC Budget 
website. 

 
Performance is measured through the Progressive Aboriginal Relations (PAR) certification, 
where a range of initiatives and partnerships with Indigenous organizations are assessed by 
an independent third-party organization, the Canadian Council for Aboriginal Business 
(CCAB). The CCAB assesses BC Housing’s commitment to the Indigenous sector in four areas: 
leadership, employment, business development and community relationships. Assessment 
results are certified at a bronze, silver or gold level, depending on performance. BC Housing 
is the only social housing provider in Canada to be certified under the PAR program. 

In the certification year 2021/22, BC Housing achieved gold certification under the PAR 
program for the third time. Gold certification demonstrates an active and ongoing 
commitment to supporting the Indigenous housing sector and Indigenous housing partners. 
In particular, the CCAB observed that the commitment level from BC Housing’s senior 
leadership and the PAR working group was impressive, and the feedback from the 

https://www.bcbudget.gov.bc.ca/default.htm
https://www.bcbudget.gov.bc.ca/default.htm
https://www.ccab.com/programs/progressive-aboriginal-relations-par/
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Indigenous employees and externally from Indigenous groups about their experiences 
working with BC Housing was generally positive. The next certification process will occur in 
2024. Benchmarking is conducted on a national level against other Canadian companies 
participating in the PAR certification program. 

Although the certification process occurs every three years, BC Housing’s work to promote 
stronger Indigenous partnerships is ongoing in all business areas. BC Housing’s current 
plans, initiatives and collaboration efforts support the goal of continual improvement each 
year. 

 
Goal 4: Strengthened organizational performance 
through alignment with principles of Truth and 
Reconciliation; equity, diversity, inclusion and 
belonging; and sustainability and resiliency, as well 
as lessons learned from the COVID-19 pandemic 

Objective 4.1: Achieve a high level of employee engagement 
Key results 

• Continued to lead collaboration through the office of equity, diversity, inclusion and 
belonging to enhance programs, policies and business practices to be in alignment 
with reconciliation and equity principles. 

• Expanded the scope of disaggregated data gathered for demographic analysis to 
better understand operational and service-delivery effects. 

• Enhanced communication and engagement opportunities for employees with their 
colleagues, tenants, clients and the community housing sector. 

• Continued to transform into a digital organization, supported the digitization of 
internal processes and improved online access to programs and services. 

Summary of progress made in 2022/23 
BC Housing continues to work to create an inclusive environment that is safe and accessible to 
all. To achieve this objective, BC Housing takes a principles-based approach to fostering equity, 
diversity, inclusion and belonging. BC Housing’s office of equity, diversity, inclusion and 
belonging seeks to lead change and advance work that applies a deep equity analysis to BC 
Housing’s business operations, programs, policies and strategies. The focus areas that fall 
under the office of equity, diversity, inclusion and belonging are GBA+, accessibility, youth, 
seniors, 2SLGBTQIA+, and Indigenous, Black and people of colour (IBPOC) as well as  
 
addressing ableism, racism and other systemic discriminations, and promoting anti-
oppression. 
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BC Housing commenced its equity assessment in 2021/22 and, through 2022/23, undertook 
various levels of engagement to inform the equity, diversity, inclusion and belonging work, 
such as through more than 60 management interviews, an organization-wide survey, affinity-
based focus groups/listening sessions, one-on-one interviews and a community partners 
survey. Educational sessions to support and build an understanding of equity, diversity, 
inclusion and belonging language and concepts occurred simultaneously and are further 
described under Objective 3.1. The equity assessment is expected to be completed by fall 
2023. 

In response to the Accessible British Columbia Act, BC Housing also began work on an 
accessibility plan in 2022/23. The plan will work to ensure that BC Housing identifies, prevents 
and removes barriers for people in the organization or for those who interact with it. BC 
Housing has worked to establish project governance groups, such as an external accessibility 
advisory committee, and to launch engagement to identify barriers to employees, residents 
and partners of BC Housing. The development of the plan will begin in fall of 2023. 

To support employee education about equity, diversity, inclusion and belonging, BC Housing 
offered a variety of courses and opportunities in 2022/23. This included the launch of a new in-
house course to support organizational learning called “Understanding Equity, Diversity, 
Inclusion and Belonging.” More than 200 employees from various roles and levels of 
responsibility in the organization participated in the two-part learning opportunity. The final 
offering of “Understanding Equity, Diversity, Inclusion and Belonging” for the fiscal year 
concluded on Nov. 10, 2022. As part of Learning at Work Month, BC Housing also offered a 
two-part series for employees in September 2022 called “Understanding Ableism” to support 
the learning needs of the accessibility plan. Through the People with Disabilities/Disabled 
People Employee Resource Group, a panel discussion was facilitated as part of BC Housing’s 
Sharing Knowledge series to deepen learning about disability and how it shapes the 
organization’s work. 

BC Housing maintained high employee engagement in 2022/23. BC Housing was again 
included in the list of top 100 employers in the B.C., with recognition for embedding diversity, 
equity and inclusion principles in its business operations, programs and policies, and offering 
substantial training on a variety of topics, such as respect in the workplace, unconscious bias 
and anti-racism. Approximately 87% BC Housing staff participated in the employee 
engagement survey, of which 78% expressed agreement with key indicators of employee 
engagement. 

In 2021/22, BC Housing completed a redesign of its intranet (HomeNet) to create an improved 
information structure and global search, as well as a unified design focused on employee 
information needs. In 2022/23, an internal feedback survey found that among responding 
employees, 34% used HomeNet more frequently than before the HomeNet redesign, almost 
90% found HomeNet effective for getting the information they needed and more than 75% 
trusted that information on HomeNet was accurate and up to date. The new HomeNet also 
facilitated higher-level strategic change at BC Housing by providing employees with a channel 
for organizational information. 

Further work to support BC Housing’s evolution into a digital organization in 2022/23 included 
the creation of hybrid office options and implementation of meeting-room technologies to 
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support multiple working arrangements. BC Housing also advanced many digital projects to 
optimize existing business processes, such as Phase 1 of the implementation of the contract 
lifecycle management system. 

 
Performance measure(s) and related discussion 

 

Performance Measure 2021/22 Actual 2022/23 Target 2022/23 Actual 

 
4.1 Employee engagement index1 

Top quartile 
of 

benchmarked 
employers 

Top quartile of 
benchmarked 

employers 

Top quartile of 
benchmarked 

employers 

Data source: BC Housing’s employee engagement survey 
1PM 4.1 targets for 2023/24 and 2024/25 were stated in the 2022/23 service plan as “top quartile”. For forward-looking planning 
information, including current targets for 2023/24 – 2025/26, see the latest service plan on the BC Budget website. 

 
Employee engagement is a productivity indicator based on employee satisfaction and 
motivation. The measure is based on an annual staff survey that gathers feedback about 
different aspects of the work environment, such as access to leadership, learning and growth 
opportunities that serve to meet business objectives, as well as the personal aspirations of 
employees. 

The target for 2022/23 was met. In 2022/23, 87% of staff participated in the employee 
engagement survey and 78% expressed agreement with key indicators of employee 
engagement. The 2022/23 survey results place BC Housing in the top quartile of benchmarked 
employers, meeting the performance target and demonstrating that BC Housing has been 
successful in building a culture of employee engagement. 

The top five responses to the survey show that more than 90% of employees feel they have a 
good relationship with their co-workers, understand what is expected of them to maintain a 
safe and healthy workplace, and have a good relationship with their manager or supervisor. 
Approximately 89% of employees also understood the goals and objectives of BC Housing, 
while 88% were clear about how their work contributes to achieving the goals and objectives 
of BC Housing. Areas identified for improvement in the survey included prioritizing and 
reducing work volume, improving transparency and information sharing, addressing 
compensation and total rewards concerns, improving work/life balance, and building renewed 
confidence in the organization going forward. 
 
The survey findings will support ongoing improvement in the employee experience. 

 
  

https://www.bcbudget.gov.bc.ca/default.htm
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Objective 4.2: Support provincial climate goals by actively 
contributing to low-carbon, healthy and future-proof housing 

Key results 
• Implemented the new Sustainability and Resiliency Framework and completed 

the Sustainability and Resilience Strategy, which builds on the framework and 
guides BC Housing’s work on sustainability and resilience. 

• Supported the improvement and preservation of existing social housing stock 
through energy retrofits and building-envelope upgrades. 

• Built capacity within the construction industry and the social housing sector through 
research and education about integrating low-carbon, adaptive and resilient solutions 
into building design and renovation. 

• Continued to be a leader to help the building design and construction industry in its 
transformation toward sustainable, equitable and resilient building practices, such as 
the development and dissemination of training curricula for licensed builders about how 
to build homes that meet BC Energy Step Code requirements. 

• Invested in technical projects in partnership with industry and all orders of 
government related to the quality and sustainability of residential construction. 

 
Summary of progress made in 2022/23 
BC Housing is committed to changing building practices so that homes that exist today and 
homes built in the future can withstand the increasing negative effects of changing climate. 
This includes the implementation of low-carbon and resilience approaches in new design and 
major retrofits of affordable housing buildings that target the higher steps of the BC Energy 
Step Code and use passive technologies, resiliency measures and low-carbon building 
materials. In 2022/23, BC Housing completed 35 projects that have achieved Step 3 or higher 
of the BC Energy Step Code. BC Housing also worked with partners to move two Passive House 
projects into the design development stage and continued to support the MBAR pilot at the 
Rosewood Village redevelopment project. 

As mentioned in other sections, the BC Housing Design Guidelines and Construction Standards 
were updated to align with the BC Energy Step Code. As part of this work, BC Housing issued 
Technical Bulletin No. 3-2023 to align BC Housing’s energy performance targets with BC 
Building Code and align greenhouse gas intensity targets with CleanBC updates and the 
provincial Climate Change Accountability Act. 

Building on work already accomplished, BC Housing has implemented its Sustainability and 
Resiliency Framework, which reflects a new approach to sustainability. The framework 
provides systemic solutions and creates opportunities for equitable, inclusive, sustainable and 
resilient housing that meets the needs of the changing world. Based on the framework, BC 
Housing has developed performance measures, targets and an implementation plan that 
details actions needed during the next three years. 

To help ensure builders are prepared for new energy-efficiency requirements under the BC 
Energy Step Code, a new condition was added to general contractor licenses, which stipulates 

https://www.bchousing.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/Sustainability-and-Resilience-Strategy-Framework.pdf
https://www.bchousing.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/BC-Housing-Design-Guidelines-and-Construction-Standards-Technical-Bulletin-No-3-Sections-2-and-4.pdf
https://www.bchousing.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/BC-Housing-Design-Guidelines-and-Construction-Standards-Technical-Bulletin-No-3-Sections-2-and-4.pdf
https://www.bclaws.gov.bc.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/07042_01
https://www.bclaws.gov.bc.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/07042_01
https://www.bchousing.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/Sustainability-and-Resilience-Strategy-Framework.pdf
https://www.bchousing.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/Sustainability-and-Resilience-Strategy-Framework.pdf
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a two-year period to demonstrate competency in building to Step 3 of the BC Energy Step 
Code. To support the new licensing requirement, BC Housing developed 20 hours of new 
training about the BC Energy Step Code via the Learning on Demand portal. This is in addition 
to the other technical research and education work BC Housing provides to support the 
improvement of construction quality in B.C., including BC Housing’s support for Natural 
Resource Canada’s Local Energy Efficiency Partnerships (LEEP) program as well as BC 
Housing’s MBAR project. 

Performance measure(s) and related discussion 
 

Performance Measure 2021 Actual 2022 Target 2022 Actual 

4.2 Per cent reduction in greenhouse gas 
emissions from 2010 levels1 

17% Reduction of 
20% to 25% 18% 

Data source: Provided directly from utility companies and compiled by an external consultant. The targets for the measure 
are based on calendar year in accordance with legislative requirements. 
1PM 4.2 targets for 2023 and 2024 were stated in the 2022/23 service plan as reduction of 25% to 30% and reduction of 30% 
to 35%, respectively. For forward-looking planning information, including current targets for 2023/24 – 2025/26, see the 
latest service plan on the BC Budget website. 

 
This measure tracks progress in reducing greenhouse gas emissions and maintaining a 
carbon- neutral status as required by the Climate Change Accountability Act (formerly the 
Greenhouse Gas Reductions Target Act). It includes emissions from the entire housing 
portfolio of buildings owned or leased by the Provincial Rental Housing Corporation and is 
aligned with provincial reporting requirements, including the Climate Change Accountability 
Report. 
Targets are set against a reduction in greenhouse gas emissions from the 2010 level. The 
baseline, which was calculated across the housing portfolio in 2010, has been maintained to 
compare reductions. Targets consider anticipated changes to the housing portfolio and 
consider anticipated changes to the housing portfolio over the three-year service plan period. 

In 2022/23, the target was not met. BC Housing’s greenhouse gas emissions from energy use 
to provide heat, hot water and electricity for buildings totaled 30,641 tonnes of carbon 
dioxide equivalent emissions. This represents an 18% decrease in emissions compared to the 
2010 baseline and a 6% decrease in emissions compared to 2021. 

Greenhouse gas emission reductions compared with the baseline are mainly a result of 
energy conservation efforts since 2010, such as multi-year building upgrades, fuel switching, 
energy programs, enhancing energy-efficiency standards for new construction and ongoing 
improvements in energy management in the BC Housing portfolio. 

There are a variety of factors that explain why the target for 2022 was not met. For newly 
constructed properties, operational carbon was lower than average compared to BC 
Housing’s existing stock, but still relied on fossil fuels for heating. Another contributing factor 
was the purchase of existing buildings heated with fossil fuels. In 2022, winter weather was 
also colder than average. 

The Province has a CleanBC target of a 50% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions from 
public- sector buildings by 2030. BC Housing will need to further transition away from fossil 
fuel use in community housing buildings to meet the target. BC Housing will also need to find 
additional energy savings through significant renovation and upgrades to existing buildings. 

https://www.bchousing.org/research-centre/library/residential-design-construction-guides/LEEP-series-3
https://www.bchousing.org/research-centre/library/residential-design-construction-guides/LEEP-series-3
https://www.bchousing.org/research-centre/library/residential-design-construction-guides/MBAR
https://www.bcbudget.gov.bc.ca/default.htm
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/environment/climate-change/action/cleanbc/2022-ccar/2022_climate_change_accountability_report.pdf
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/environment/climate-change/action/cleanbc/2022-ccar/2022_climate_change_accountability_report.pdf
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Financial Report 

Discussion of Results 
In 2022/23, BC Housing’s revenues totaled $2.41 billion, an increase of $448.5 million compared 
to 2021/22. Out of these revenues, $2.18 billion were received from the provincial government: 

• $1.01 billion through the Ministry of Housing 
• $1.14 billion through the Housing Priority Initiatives Special Account 
• $12.9 million through the Housing Endowment Fund Special Account 
• $23.6 million through other partnering ministries/agencies 

The federal government, through Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation, provided $135 
million under the Social Housing Agreement and the Canada–BC Bilateral Agreement under 
the 2017 National Housing Strategy. 

The remaining $89.5 million of revenue mainly comprised of rent/commercial revenue paid 
directly to BC Housing, earnings from financial activities, fees charged to 
builders/developers and contributions from other funding partners. 

In 2022/23, BC Housing’s expenses totaled $2.41 billion, an increase of $448.5 million over 
2021/22. BC Housing continues to provide financial support to various housing programs that 
are either managed by non-profit housing providers or BC Housing directly. The expenses in 
most categories increased due to new projects coming online and inflationary operating costs 
in the existing housing portfolio. 

During the fiscal year, significant financial resources were invested in capital projects and 
operating subsidies. A record-breaking $1.24 billion of capital funding was provided to 
programs to construct and acquire new housing units and to upgrade existing stock, which 
represents an increase of $332.1 million, or 37%, compared to 2021/22. In addition, $784.1 
million of operating funding flowed to housing providers under various programs to support 
property management activities and provide wraparound support services to clients who need 
it. Operating funding is expected to grow in the years to come with BC Housing expanding its 
housing portfolio. 
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Financial Summary 
 

($000s) 2021/22 
Actual 

2022/23 
Budget 

2022/23 
Actual 

2022/23 
Variance 

Revenues     

Contributions from Province 1,743,414 2,025,979 2,185,473 159,494 

Contributions from Federal 154,010 159,208 134,972 (24,236) 

Other Income & Recoveries 64,074 61,823 89,536 27,713 

Total Revenue 1,961,498 2,247,010 2,409,981 162,971 

Expenses     

Grants 906,039 1,090,985 1,238,159 147,174 

Housing Subsidies 696,747 746,497 784,081 37,584 

Rental Assistance 119,426 137,467 105,291 (32,176) 

Salaries and Labour 86,290 98,622 93,569 (5,053) 

Operating Expenses 90,935 110,974 93,256 (17,718) 

Building Maintenance 22,505 20,180 26,533 6,353 

Office and Overhead 15,032 16,310 17,189 879 

Utilities 11,325 10,925 11,244 319 

Grants in lieu of Property Taxes 10,063 11,178 9,933 (1,245) 

Research and Education 2,178 1,235 1,650 415 

Interest Expense 930 2,637 29,051 26,414 

Total Expenses 1,961,470 2,247,010 2,409,956 162,946 

Net Income 28 0 25 25 

Total [Liabilities/Debt] 1,556,315 2,401,953 2,430,785 28,832 

Capital Expenditures 4,188 5,000 6,287 1,287 

Accumulated Surplus 209,656 203,910 208,344 4,434 
1The above financial information was prepared based on Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards 
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Variance and Trend Analysis 
Revenues 

The financial summary table shows BC Housing’s actual revenues totaled $2.41 billion in 
2022/23, which was $163 million more than the 2022/23 budget and $448.5 million more 
than the previous year. These variances reflect changes in provincial revenue, federal 
revenue and other revenue. 

Provincial Revenue 

Provincial revenues received were $159.5 million higher than anticipated in the 2022/23 budget. 
The primary adjustment was additional provincial government capital investment in affordable 
rental projects. Updated construction schedules also resulted in adjustments to grant-related 
contributions. The grant reallocation process has no net effect on the overall contributions for 
the associated programs as it only shifts the timing of the funding between fiscal years. 

When compared to the previous year’s actual spend, provincial contributions increased by 
$442.1 million. The year-over-year variance is also primarily attributable to the increased 
capital investment in the non-profit-owned affordable rental projects. Additional increases 
were related to subsidies provided for newly completed projects under Building BC programs. 

Federal Revenue 

Federal revenue decreased by $24.2 million compared to the 2022/23 budget and by $19 
million compared to the previous year. Lower-than-budgeted contributions under the Co-
investment Fund and CBCHB program account for the 2022/23 budget variance and year-
over-year variance, which will be reallocated and fully spent in future years. The one-time 
funding received in 2021/22 for the Rapid Housing Initiative Phase 2 further reduces the 
federal government contribution compared to 2022/23. 

Other Revenue 

Other revenue increased by $27.7 million compared to the 2022/23 budget and by $25.5 
million compared to the previous year. Most of the budget variance was due to increased 
interest revenue from interim construction financing provided to capital projects owned by 
non-profit housing providers. The interest revenue is offset by higher interest expenditures 
paid to the Provincial Treasury for the borrowing of cash. 

 
Expenditures 
The financial summary table shows BC Housing’s actual expenditures totalled $2.41 billion in 
2022/23, which was $163 million more than the 2022/23 budget and $448.5 million more than 
the previous year. Significant variances include: 

Grants 

Grants were $147.2 million higher than the 2022/23 budget. The increase in expenditures 

https://www.bchousing.org/projects-partners/Building-BC
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primarily related to the provincial government’s additional investment in expanding the 
affordable rental housing portfolio throughout the province. The overall grant spend was also 
affected by slower- than-expected construction progress in Building BC programs, such as the 
Supportive Housing Fund and Women’s Transition Housing Fund, which resulted in associated 
costs being reprofiled into future years. 

The year-over-year variance of $332.1 million is attributed to additional capital grant 
investments from the provincial government and increased construction activities under 
Building BC programs. 

Housing Subsidies 

Housing subsidies were $37.6 million higher than the 2022/23 budget. The variance was 
primarily the result of additional financial supports for non-profit housing providers, as well as 
cost inflation across various programs. 

When compared to the previous year’s actuals, the 2022/23 spend increased by $87.3 million. 
Growth was primarily due to new projects coming online under Building BC programs, along 
with inflationary pressures on existing programs and additional financial resources to help 
non-profit housing providers build capacity. 

Rental Assistance 

Rental Assistance was $32.2 million lower than the 2022/23 budget and decreased by $14.1 
million compared to the previous year’s actual spend. In both cases, the variance is due to the 
continued decline in the number of clients receiving rental assistance under the SAFER 
program and RAP. The declining trend has been observed since the beginning of the 
pandemic, and a review of the program parameters is underway to improve the accessibility 
of the programs and increase the program uptake. Slower-than-expected growth in the 
CBCHB program also contributed to the budget variance. 

Operating 

Operating costs were $17.7 million lower than the 2022/23 budget. The budget variance is 
primarily attributed to the winding down of COVID-19-related supports more rapidly than 
anticipated when the initial budget was developed, as the devastating effects of the pandemic 
started to subside. 

Interest Expense 

Interest expenses were $26.4 million higher than the 2022/23 budget and increased by $28.1 
million compared to the previous year. The Bank of Canada increased its policy interest rate 
seven consecutive times during the fiscal year, increasing the benchmark rate from 0.50% to 
4.50%. The rate increase significantly affects financing costs when BC Housing borrows cash 
from Provincial Treasury to fund the construction of housing projects. However, BC Housing 
was able to offset the expense through interest revenue received by providing interim 
financing for these housing projects (see “Other Revenue”). 

  

https://www.bchousing.org/projects-partners/Building-BC
https://www.bchousing.org/projects-partners/Building-BC
https://www.bchousing.org/projects-partners/Building-BC
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Other Expenses 

Other expenses include directly managed property related costs, such as utilities; grants in 
lieu of property taxes; maintenance; administrative costs, such as salary and benefits, office, 
and overhead; and research and education. These costs were $1.7 million higher than the 
2022/23 budget and increased by $12.7 million compared to the previous year, mainly due to 
the increased staffing to develop new housing initiatives, as well as the increased demand of 
work and inflationary costs to maintain the aging housing portfolio. 

Risks and Uncertainties 
Despite the end of COVID-19 pandemic, homelessness challenges in British Columbia have 
escalated to a critical point, epitomized by the widespread emergence of encampments 
throughout the province. BC Housing has worked with partners to successfully respond to 
large encampments in the Vancouver and Victoria area. This response required BC Housing to 
provide dedicated staff resources by repositioning staff from existing roles and 
responsibilities, as well as significant financial resources to support housing solutions, and to 
provide outreach and support services aimed at resolving the issue effectively. 

Successive rounds of emergency response created lasting effects on staffing that risks core 
service delivery within homelessness and supportive housing teams. A comprehensive and 
proactive solution for encampment response and homelessness prevention necessitates the 
active involvement and on-going co-ordination of different levels of government with financial 
and non-financial measures. BC Housing is partnering with multiple levels of authority, 
implementing proactive measures to prevent homelessness and entrenchment, and, when 
encampments occur, working to mitigate the safety risks of encampments, improve the well-
being of occupants, and seek temporary and permanent housing solutions for decampment. 

The Business Transformation Program represents an exciting opportunity for BC Housing to 
modernize and enhance processes and systems; however, as with all transformation initiatives, 
there are some risks involved. Transformation requires substantive change across the 
organization, causing disruptions to current processes and practices that, while less efficient, 
are well-known and used by employees and partners. There will also be organizational culture 
change as a result of new governance and accountability practices, which will take time to be 
realized. Lastly, BC Housing is engaged in business transformation at the same time that the 
organization is engaged in significant delivery of safe, quality and affordable housing options 
for British Columbians, which potentially creates additional pressures for those engaged in 
both endeavors. 

British Columbia has experienced extreme weather in recent years. These extreme weather 
trends pose ongoing challenges for the housing sector in B.C., requiring proactive measures 
to enhance resilience, adaptability and sustainability in housing infrastructure. BC Housing 
partners with non- profit housing providers to prepare for extreme weather by stocking up 
fans and air conditioners to distribute to housing sites when they are needed. Financial 
resources are directed to upgrade existing housing stock and incorporate climate-resilient 
housing design into new developments to withstand the effects of climate change and to 
ensure the health and safety of tenants. 
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Inflationary pressures on material costs, supply-chain challenges and higher interest rates 
have a profound effect on social housing developments. As costs within the housing market 
continue to rise, the price of construction materials and labour, which make up most of the 
capital budget, soar. This makes it increasingly difficult for non-profit housing providers to 
acquire or develop projects that offer affordable rents to tenants. Moreover, higher interest 
rates place additional financial burdens on non-profit housing providers through higher 
monthly mortgage payments or construction loan repayments. In addition, challenges with 
supply chains throughout the province have delayed schedules and caused costs to escalate. 
With additional financial investment from the Province, BC Housing is injecting additional 
capital grants to projects affected by the cost escalations with the goal of maintaining rent 
affordability. 

Most community social service sector unions reached tentative or ratified contract agreements 
with B.C. government under the Shared Recovery Mandate. The new agreements offered 
significant increases in salary and benefits retroactive to 2022/23. The Province committed to 
fund the new changes; however, the specific details of each union agreement are to be 
determined. BC Housing will work closely with the Province and non-profit housing providers to 
make sure an appropriate funding level is provided to the sector while maintaining the financial 
viability of BC Housing. 
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Appendix A: Progress on Mandate Letter Priorities 
The following is a summary of progress made on priorities as stated in the 2021/22 Mandate 
Letter from the minister responsible. 

 

2021/22 Mandate Letter Priority Status as of March 31, 2023 
In co-ordination with the Ministry of Attorney 
General and the Crown Agency Secretariat, 
continue to implement, support and report on 
BC Housing programs included in Homes for 
B.C.: A 30-Point Plan for Housing Affordability 
in British Columbia, as well as subsequent 
government commitments in Budgets 2019 
and 2020 to create more permanent 
affordable and social housing, including those 
with the 10-year targets under the Building BC 
programs: 

- 14,350 units through the Community 
Housing Fund 

- 1,500 units through the Women’s 
Transition Housing Fund 

- 1,750 units through the Indigenous 
Housing Fund 

- 2,500 units through the Supportive 
Housing Fund 

 
 
 
 

BC Housing has continued to make progress 
delivering BC Housing programs with unit 
targets met for the past fiscal year. 

Work is ongoing to meet unit targets set 
under the 30-Point Plan. 

 
Support the Ministry of Attorney General, in 
collaboration with other relevant ministries, in 
the development and implementation of a 
homelessness strategy, including 
development and continued delivery of 
permanent supportive housing, emergency 
shelters and homelessness outreach 
programs. 

BC Housing has supported the Ministry of 
Housing in the planning process for the 
homelessness strategy. Part of the 
response includes the Supported Rental 
Supplement Program (SRSP), which aims 
to reduce and prevent homelessness by 
providing a co- ordinated network of 
clinical and non-clinical services to a 
portion of eligible federally funded CBCHB 
recipients. 

https://www.bchousing.org/publications/mandate-letter-2021-2022.pdf
https://www.bchousing.org/publications/mandate-letter-2021-2022.pdf
https://www.bchousing.org/projects-partners/Building-BC
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2021/22 Mandate Letter Priority Status as of March 31, 2023 
Deliver more affordable housing through 
HousingHub partnerships by: 

- providing low-interest construction loans; 

- expanding partnerships with non-profit 
and co-op housing providers to acquire 
and preserve existing rental buildings; 
and 

- developing new homeownership 
program streams through the affordable 
homeownership program (AHOP) and 
other new equity-building programs. 

 
 
BC Housing has continued to work with 
partners to facilitate the creation of new 
affordable rental housing and 
homeownership options for middle-
income British Columbians. 

 
Support the Ministry of Attorney General and 
Minister Responsible for Housing in their 
work with the Ministry of Mental Health and 
Addictions, and other ministries and partners 
to explore and develop new models of higher- 
intensity supports than those currently 
provided in supportive housing. 

Through partnership with the Ministry of 
Mental Health and Addictions, BC Housing 
has supported the creation of the new 
complex-care-housing model, which 
intends to support people with severe 
mental-health or substance-use issues, or 
traumatic and acquired brain injuries, who 
are homeless or unstably housed. The first 
four complex-care- housing sites were 
announced in Surrey, Abbotsford, and 
Vancouver in late 2022. 

https://www.bchousing.org/housinghub
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Statement of Management Responsibility 

The financial statements of the British Columbia Housing Management Commission 
(the Commission) are the responsibility of management and have been prepared in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards, consistently applied and appropriate in the 
circumstances. The preparation of financial statements necessarily involves the use of estimates 

have been properly prepared within the framework of the accounting policies summarized in the 
financial statements and incorporate, within reasonable limits of materiality, all information available 
at May 26, 2023. The financial statements have also been reviewed by the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee and approved by the Board of Commissioners. 

Management maintains systems of internal controls designed to provide reasonable assurance that 
assets are safeguarded, and that reliable financial information is available on a timely basis. These 
systems include formal written policies and procedures, careful selection and training of qualified 
personnel and appropriate delegation of authority and segregation of responsibilities within the 
organization. An internal audit function independently evaluates the effectiveness of these internal 
controls on an ongoing basis and reports its findings to management and the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee.

The financial statements have been examined by an independent external auditor. The external 
ial statements, in all material 

accordance with Canadian publi
which follows, outlines the scope of their examination and their opinion.

The Board of Commissioners, through the Audit and Risk Management Committee, is responsible 
for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibility for financial reporting and internal controls. 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee meets regularly with the external auditors, the internal 
auditors and management to satisfy itself that each group has properly discharged its responsibility  
to review the financial statements before recommending approval by the Board of Commissioners. 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee also recommends the appointment of an external 
auditor to the Board of Commissioners. The external auditor has full and open access to the Audit 
and Risk Management Committee, with and without the presence of management.

Vincent Tong
Chief Executive Officer

Sarf Ahmed
Acting Vice President of Corporate Services
and Chief Financial Officer

May 26, 2023
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Statement of Financial Position
March 31 March 31

2023 2022
($000's) ($000's)

Financial Assets
  Cash $ 89,405 $ 38,259
  Portfolio investments (Note 3) 116,566 114,106
  Receivables (Note 4) 29,666 24,620
  Due from Province of British Columbia (Note 17) 1,007,103 406,933
  Due from Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation 41,742 35,764
  Due from (to) Provincial Rental Housing Corporation (Note 17) 97,878 127,951
  Construction loans to housing projects (Note 4) 1,222,582 927,565
  Mortgages and loans receivable (Note 5) 18,068 24,428

2,623,010 1,699,626

Liabilities
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 190,161 141,112
  Deferred revenue (Note 6) 226,783 184,636
  Tenants' prepaid rent 1,673 1,475
  Due to Provincial Treasury (Note 7) 999,661 736,024
  Society funds held on deposit (Note 8) 30,766 28,682
  Construction grants payable (Note 9) 977,199 459,944
  Social Housing Agreement Reserves (Note 10) 4,542 4,442

2,430,785 1,556,315

Net financial assets 192,225 143,311

Non-financial assets 
  Prepaid expenses and housing subsidies 4,544 55,975
  Tangible capital assets (Note 11) 11,575 10,370

16,119 66,345

Accumulated surplus 208,344 209,656

Accumulated surplus comprises:
  Accumulated surplus from operations 201,370 201,345
  Accumulated remeasurement gain (loss) 6,974 8,311

$ 208,344 $ 209,656

Commitments (Note 16)
Contingencies (Note 19)

On behalf of the Board of Commissioners:

Allan Seckel, Chair

See accompanying notes to the f inancial statements
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Statement of Operations   
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See accompanying notes to the f inancial statements 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
 

2023              2022              
Year Ended March 31 ($000's) ($000's)

Cash flows provided by (used in)

Operating transactions
Annual surplus from operations $ 25                 $ 28                 
Non cash Items:

  Changes in non-cash working capital (Note 15) (438,296)       (249,521)       
  Portfolio investment income (4,170)           (4,138)           
  Discount on loans receivable (493)              (1,181)           
  Depreciation of tangible capital assets 5,082            5,674            

(437,852)       (249,138)       

Capital transactions
Tangible capital asset additions net of disposals (6,287)           (4,188)           

Investing transactions
Construction loans (provided) repaid (to) from housing projects (295,017)       11,603          
Cash redemption from short-term investments 672               560               
Cash used for short-term investments (183)              (1,065)           
New mortgages provided (944)              (150)              
Mortgage payments received 7,797            11,164          

(287,675)       22,112          

Financing transactions
Grants received/receivable for construction 1,218,535      883,753         
Grants used for construction (701,281)       (841,777)       
Loans provided by Provincial Treasury 2,941,090      1,628,331      
Loan repayments to Provincial Treasury (2,677,453)     (1,441,259)     
Social Housing Agreement Reserves (15)                (17)                
Additions to society funds 10,585          7,839            
Society funds used for projects (8,501)           (2,068)           

782,960         234,802         

Increase in cash 51,146          3,588            

Cash, beginning of year 38,259          34,671          

Cash, end of year $ 89,405          $ 38,259           
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See accompanying notes to the f inancial statements 
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Statement of Remeasurement Gains (Losses)
 

 
 
 
Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See accompanying notes to the f inancial statements 
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1. General 
 
The British Columbia Housing Management Commission (the Commission) is a Crown agency, 

o the development, 
management and administration of  subsidized housing throughout the Province of  British Columbia 
(the Province). This includes developing and facilitating new social housing, administering rental 
assistance programs, and a variety of  other federal and/or provincial housing programs. 
      
The Provincial Rental Housing Corporation (the Corporation) is a related entity to the Commission through 
common control by the Province. The Corporation holds property for social and other low-cost housing 
initiatives for the Province. It also holds land under long-term leases to housing providers. The subsidized 
rental housing units of  the Corporation are managed and operated by the Commission. The Commission 
recognizes the related rental revenue of  the housing units and is responsible for all the operating and 
administrative activities and related costs. The Commission administers agreements relating to operation 
of  social housing units owned and/or managed by non-prof it housing providers. Through the Licensing 
and Consumer Services Branch, the Commission also has responsibilities related to licensing of  builders, 
home warranty insurance, and research and education to improve the quality of  residential construction 
and consumer protection. 
 
The Commission is exempt f rom federal and provincial income taxes. 
 
 

2. Significant Accounting Policies 
 

a) Basis of  Presentation 
 

These f inancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Province of  British Columbia, 
Ministry of  Finance regulation 688-2010 that requires taxpayer-supported organizations to adopt 
Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards established by the Public Sector Accounting Board 
(PSAB) of  the Chartered Professional Accountants of  Canada (CPA).  

 
b) Use of  Estimates 

 
In preparing these f inancial statements, management has made estimates and assumptions that af fect 
the reported amounts of  assets and liabilities and disclosure of  contingent assets and liabilities at the 
date of  the f inancial statements and the reported amounts of  revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period. Areas requiring use of  estimates include the collectability of  receivables, construction 
loans to housing projects and mortgages receivable as well as useful lives of  tangible capital assets. 
Actual results could dif fer f rom those estimates. 

 
c) Revenue Recognition 

 
The Commission is funded primarily by the Province and the Canada Mortgage Housing Corporation 
(CMHC). 

 
Tenant rent and other Revenues are recognized on an accrual basis in the period in which the 
transactions or events occurred that gave rise to the revenues, the amounts are considered to be 
collectible and can be reasonably estimated. 

 
Contributions received or where eligibility criteria have been met are recognized as revenue except 
where the contribution meets the criteria for deferral. Eligibility criteria are the criteria that the 
Commission must meet in order to receive the contributions including authorization by the transferring 
entity.  



 
British Columbia Housing Management Commission 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

March 31, 2023 

 

11 

For contributions subject to a legislative or contractual stipulation or restriction as to their use, revenue 
is recognized in the year related expenses are incurred.  

d) Tenant Rent Revenue 
 

Tenant rent revenue represents rent charged to residents and is determined as the lesser of  market 
rent and a percentage of  each resident's income.  

e) Tangible Capital Assets 
 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost and depreciated over their estimated useful life (see 
Note 11). Computer sof tware includes desktop applications, server applications and enterprise 
applications which is depreciated over a three-year, f ive-year and 10-year amortization period 
respectively. Computer hardware includes photocopier hardware, server hardware, datacentre and 
communication hardware and are depreciated on a three-year amortization period. Tenant 
improvements are amortized over respective lease term. All other capital assets are depreciated over 
a f ive-year amortization period.  

Tangible capital assets are written down to residual value when conditions indicate they no longer 
contribute to the ability of  the Commission to provide services or when the value of  future economic 
benef its are less than their net book value. The write-downs are accounted for as expenses in the 
statement of  operations. 

 
f ) Employee Benef it Plans 

 
The employees and employers of  the public service contribute to the Public Service Pension Plan 
(the Plan), a jointly trusteed pension plan. The Public Service Pension Board of  Trustees, representing  
plan members and employers, is responsible for overseeing the management of  the Plan, including 
investment of  the assets and administration of  benef its . The Plan is a multi-employer contributory 
def ined benef its pension plan and pension benef its are expensed as incurred. The Plan has 
approximately 68,000 active plan members and approximately 54,000 retired plan members.  

 
Every three years an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the f inancial position of  the Plan and 
the adequacy of  plan funding. The latest valuation as at March 31, 2020, indicated an actuarial surplus 
of  $2.7 billion for basic pension benef its. The next valuation will be as at March 31, 2023 with results 
available in early 2024. The actuary does not attribute portions of  the unfunded liability or surplus to 
individual employers. The Commission paid $7,644,971 for employer contributions to the Plan in f iscal 
2022/2023 (2021/2022: $6,703,838). 

  
g) Government transfers  
 

The Corporation records government transfers (applicable to grants and housing subsidies) as 
expenses in the period the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met by the 
recipient.  

      
 
h) Financial Instruments 

ncial instruments consist of  cash, portfolio investments, receivables, due f rom 
the Province of  British Columbia, due f rom Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation, construction 
loans to housing projects, mortgages and loans receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, 
due f rom Provincial Rental Housing Corporation, due to Provincial Treasury , Society funds held on 
deposit and construction grants payable.  
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Upon inception and subsequent to initial recognition, equity instruments quoted in an active market 
(portfolio investments) are measured at fair value. These f inancial instruments are identif ied in this 
note by f inancial asset and f inancial liability classif ication and are not reclassif ied into another 
measurement category for the duration of  the period they are held. 

All other f inancial assets and f inancial liabilities are measured at cost or amortized cost upon their 
inception and subsequent to initial recognition. Cash and cash equivalents are measured at cost.  
Receivables, due f rom the Province of  British Columbia, due f rom Canada Mortgage and Housing 
Corporation, loan receivables and mortgages receivable are recorded at amortized cost less any 
amount for valuation allowance. All debt and other f inancial liabilities are recorded using cost or 
amortized cost. 

The classif ication of  f inancial instruments is determined upon their initial recognition.  Financial 
instruments are classif ied as level 1, 2 or 3 for the purposes of  describing the basis of the inputs used 
to measure the fair values of  f inancial instruments in the fair value measurement category as described 
below: 

 Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets fo r identical assets or liabilities. 
 
 Level 2 - Market-based inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or 

liability either directly or indirectly. 

 Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data; 
assumptions are based on the best internal and external information available and are most 
suitable and appropriate based on the type of  f inancial instrument being valued in order to 
establish what the transaction price would have been on the measureme
length transaction. 

 
Portfolio investments are recognized at their fair value, determined by published price quotations in 
an active market. Transactions to purchase or sell these items are recorded on the settlement date, 
and transaction costs are immediately recognized in income. Realized gains and losses are 
recognized in the statement of  operations and unrealized gains/losses f rom changes in fair value are 
recorded in the statement of  remeasurement losses. All other f inancial instruments are recorded at
cost or amortized cost basis using the ef fective interest rate method where app ropriate. 

All f inancial assets are assessed annually for impairment. When f inancial assets are impaired, 
impairment losses are recorded in the statement of  operations. A write-down of  a portfolio investment 
to ref lect a loss in value is not reversed for a subsequent increase in value.  

Transaction costs for f inancial instruments measured at fair value are expensed when incurred.  

A f inancial liability or its part is derecognized when it is extinguished. 

i) New accounting standards adopted 
 

Ef fective April 1, 2022, the Commission adopted section PS 3280 - Asset Retirement Obligations 
issued by the Public Sector Accounting Board. The adoption of  this standard do es not impact these 
f inancial statements. 
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3. Portfolio Investments 
 

The Commission invests funds held on behalf  of  non-prof it housing providers, funds for specific reserves 
and funds provided by ministries for specif ic housing projects . These investments are held in pooled 
investments and managed by f ive investment management f irms. Income derived under the investments 
is reinvested into the portfolio. An investment committee meets periodically to review the performance of  
the fund managers and ensure compliance with the BC Housing investment policy. Quarterly reports are 
provided to the BC Housing Board of  Commissioners. The investment policy has the following asset target 
components: 30% Fixed Income, 15% Canadian Equity, 20% Canadian Real Estate and 35% Global 
Equity. 
 
 

4. Receivables and Construction Loans to Housing Projects 
 

a) Receivables 

Receivables are recorded at cost less an amount for allowance of  doubtful accounts. The allowance 
is determined on the basis of  past collection experience.  As at March 31, 2023, the allowance totalled 
$4,711,000 (2022: $4,575,000). Changes in the valuation allowance are recognized in the statement 
of  operations.  

 
b) Construction Loans to Housing Projects 
 

In its capacity as a National Housing Act (NHA) approved lender, the Commission advances approved 
interim construction loan draws to both non-prof it housing providers and developers under the social 
housing and market rental housing programs. The loan advances are repaid upon project construction 
completion and arrangement of  long-term takeout mortgages with CMHC and/or NHA approved 
lenders. The average period of  construction f inancing ranges f rom eighteen to thirty -six months 
depending on the magnitude of  the project. Borrowers are charged interim interest at the Province's 
weighted average borrowing rate for short-term funds, plus administration costs. The average yield 
for the year 2022/2023 is 3.07% (2021/2022: 0.69%). The allowance for construction loans to housing 
projects for the year 2022/2023 totalled $8,614,000 (2021/2022: $8,614,000).  

 
 
5. Mortgages and loans receivable 
 

a) Non-prof it Housing Provider Mortgages Receivable 
 

The Commission periodically continues to hold construction f inancing mortgages receivable af ter 
construction completes. In all but rare situations, these mortgages are tendered for take-out 
f inancing provided by private sector f inancial institutions within twelve months of  the construction 
completion date. As of  March 31, 2023, the total value of  construction financing mortgages receivable 
was $9,257,000 (2022: $8,321,000). These receivables are secured by mortgages and/or promissory 
note 

b) BC HOME Partnership Loans Receivable  
 

Through the BC Home Owner Mortgage and Equity Partnership (BC HOME Partnership), the 
Commission assisted eligible f irst-time homebuyers by providing repayable down payment assistance 
loans. The loans, secured as a second mortgage by property, are interest and payment f ree for the 
f irst f ive years af ter which interest at prime plus 0.5% will begin to accrue and principal and interest 
payments will be amortized over 20 years. The initial interest rate is set when the loan is conditionally 
approved and will be reset at the Royal Bank of  Canada Prime Rate plus 0.5% at each of  the 10th, 
15th and 20th anniversary dates. 
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As the f irst f ive years of  the loans are concessionary, the loans have been recorded at the present 
value, discounted at prime plus 0.5%. The loan discount will be amortized into revenue and the loan 
receivable using the ef fective interest rate approach over the f ive-year concessionary term. The 
related concessionary loan expense is recorded at the time of  issue and is included in housing 
subsidies expense. The program stopped accepting new applications on March 31, 2018. As at March 
31, 2023, the total value of  the loans receivable was $8,735,000 (2022: $16,031,000).  

 
 

6. Deferred Revenue 
 

restrictions pertaining to using the contributions in future periods. 
 

 
 

 
7. Due to Provincial Treasury

 
Amounts represent short-term funds borrowed f rom the Province f or the purpose of  facilitating the 
construction or renovation of  af fordable housing and also for the HousingHub program. The maximum 
amount is not to exceed $800 million for construction or renovation of  af fordable housing, and $2 billion 
for HousingHub. Amounts drawn bear interest at a rate charged by the provincial Ministry of  Finance. The 
debt is available by way of  a series of  rolling short-term promissory notes (that, when due, can be rolled 
into further short-term promissory notes). 
 
 
As of  March 31, 2023, total borrowing used for construction or renovation of  af fordable housing was 
$477,449,000 (2022: $399,695,000) with interest rates ranging f rom 1.19% to 4.62%.  As of  March 31,  
2023, total borrowings used for Housinghub projects was $522,212,000 (2022: $336,329,000) with 
interest rates ranging f rom 0.83% to 4.61%. 
 

8. Society Funds Held on Deposit
 
These funds represent the balance of  mortgage advances held to cover various non-prof it society 
construction and sof t costs required to complete their projec ts. Interest accrues on the society funds at 
the prime rate minus 1.8%.  
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9. Construction Grants Payable 
 

Grants for construction represent liabilities to individual projects in advance of  construction. The remaining 
balance will be paid as construction progresses. 
 

 
 

10.  Social Housing Agreement Reserves 
 

The funds are available to of f set future cost increases in the federal social housing portfolio due to inf lation 
and changes in interest rates, or losses on loans owing by third parties . The funds are restricted under 
the Social Housing Agreement (SHA) and may only be used for housing within the SHA portfolio . 
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11.  Tangible Capital Assets 
 

 
 
 
12.  Other Revenue  
 

 
 

 
13.  Budget Figures 
 

Budgeted f igures are provided for comparative purposes and are consistent with the budget presented in 
the 2023/2024  2025/2026 Service Plan that was released in February 2023. 
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14.  Grants in Lieu of Property Taxes 

 
The Commission, on behalf  of  the Province, pays each municipality a grant equivalent to gross property 
taxes due for all residential properties and projects managed.
 
 

15.  Changes in Non-Cash Working Capital 
 

 
 

 
16.  Commitments 
 

a) Rental Obligations 

The Commission has minimum rental obligations under operating leases for of f ice space over the next 
f ive years and beyond as follows: 

 

  
 

 
b) Contractual Obligations- Housing Subsidies  

The Commission has signif icant contractual obligations with non-prof it housing societies for the 
provision of  annual subsidies. These contracts are reviewed annually to evaluate the level 
of  commitment. The forecasted amount over the next f ive years and beyond as follows:  



 
British Columbia Housing Management Commission 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

March 31, 2023 

 

18 

 

c) Contractual Obligations- Construction 

The Commission entered into construction contracts to build or renovate 281 projects that are owned 
by the Corporation. Total construction commitments as at March 31, 2023 was $53,000,000. All 
construction contracts are expected to be completed within two years. As construction progresses, 
the asset values are recorded as work in progress (WIP) in the Corporation. Upon c onstruction 
completion, WIP will be transferred to capital assets and depreciation will commence.  

d) Public-Private Partnership  Commitments  

The Commission has entered into a public -private partnership project (P3) with Habitat Housing 
Initiative (HHI) to renovate 13 
The information provided below shows the anticipated cash outf low,  net of  federal contributions 
provided during construction, for future obligations under the contract with HHI for the capital cost and 
f inancing, the facility maintenance and lifecycle costs as def ined in the Project Agreement. Payments 
to the private partner are contingent on specif ied performance criteria and include an estimation of  
inf lation where applicable.

As construction progresses, the asset values are recorded as capital assets and the obligation is 
recorded as a liability and included in long-term debt in the Corporation (see Note 16). Upon 
construction completion, the obligation will be met through the cap ital component of  the monthly 
service payments over the term of  the Project Agreement that is provided by the Commission. The 
capital portion of  the payments due to HHI are recorded under Housing subsidies  and are expensed 
to the Corporation.  

 



 
British Columbia Housing Management Commission 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

March 31, 2023 

 

19 

e) Loan Insurance Agreement 
 

CMHC provides loan insurance under the NHA. The CMHC/BC Housing Loan Insurance Agreement  
provides the Commission with the ability to arrange long term CMHC loan insured mortgages on behalf  
of  non-prof it housing providers. In the event of  a loan default, the Commission is required to rectify 
the default and fully reimburse CMHC for claims paid to approved lenders. Since the establishment of  
the Loan Insurance Agreement in January 1993, the Commission has never had a claim made against 
the Loan Insurance Agreement.  The Commission underwrites the mortgages in accordance with 
CMHC Handbook for multi-unit properties, registers a charge on title to ensure access to property and 
requires housing providers to enter into an operating agreement with BC Housing to ensure ongoing 
operational compliance and acc  

 
The maximum value of  mortgages that can be insured under this agreement is $4.5 billion. As of  
March 31, 2023, the total value of  outstanding CMHC insured mortgages was $3,161,207,052 
(2022: $2,967,467,062). There is no claim expected on this portfolio and the Commission has not 
recorded a provision for loss.

 
17.  Related Party Transactions 

 
a) BC Government Reporting Entities 

The Commission is related through common control to all Province of  BC ministries, agencies, Crown 
corporations, school districts, health authorities, hospital societies, universities and colleges that are 
included in the provincial government reporting entity. Transactions with these entities, unless 
disclosed otherwise, are considered to be in the normal course of  operations and are recorded at the 
exchanged amount, which is the amount of  consideration established and agreed to by the related 
parties. Funds are due on receipt of  the invoice and bear no interest. As at March 31, 2023, total due 
f rom the Province was $1,007,103,000 (2022: $406,933,000). 

b) Provincial Rental Housing Corporation (the Corporation) 
 

The Corporation was created in 1961 as a landholding corporation for social and other low-cost 
housing for the Province. The Corporation is a separate legal entity that was incorporated under the 
Company Act of the Province and has a separate governance structure. The rental housing units of  
the Corporation are managed and operated by the Commission. The assets and liabilities, including 
the capital cost of  projects owned by the Corporation, and results f rom operations of  the Corporation 
are not included in the statements of  the Commission. Separate f inancial statements are prepared for 
the Corporation.  

During the year, the Commission provided the Corporation $304,571,000 (2021/2022: $539,390,000) 
for capital grants, self -insurance, mortgage subsidies, etc. As of  March 31, 2023, amounts due f rom 
the Corporation totalled $97,878,000 (2022: $127,951,000) and represented funds provided by the 
Commission to the Corporation for acquiring and developing properties under social housing 
programs. The balances are non-interest bearing with no set terms of  repayment.  
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c) Atira Women’s Resource Society 
 
Atira Women’s Resource Society (Atira) and the Commission were related parties from April 1st to 
September 6th, 2022, due to the fact that the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of Atira is the spouse of 
an individual who was the CEO of the Commission. In the year ended March 31, 2023, the 
Commission provided $78.6 million (2022: $75.2 million) to Atira, consisting of subsidies, capital 
grants, financing, COVID, and other miscellaneous expenses. As of March 31, 2023, the Commission 
had a receivable of $1.9 million from Atira as a result of prior years’ operation surplus, which was 
repaid in May 2023. 
 
Atira and the Commission ceased to be related parties effective September 2022 upon retirement of 
the Commission's CEO. 
 

18. Contractual Rights 
 
Contractual rights are rights to economic resources arising from contracts or agreements that will result 
in both an asset and revenue in the future. The Commission has contractual rights to receive payment 
under a share cost agreement or to receive lease payments as follows:  
 

Description
2024

($000's)
2025

($000's)
2026

($000's)
2027

($000's)
2028

($000's)
Thereafter

($000's)
Annual funding under the 
Social Housing Agreement 
(SHA)

71,976$   63,711$   51,422$   37,306$   23,295$   27,064$   

Annual funding under 
Bilateral Agreement

76,451     89,392     -              -              -              

Land/and or building lease 
payments on properties 
owned by the Corporation

1,447       1,245       1,197       1,196       1,196       14,085     

149,874$ 154,348$ 52,619$   38,502$   24,491$   41,149$   
 

 
 
19. Contingencies 
 

a) Letters of Credit 
 

As of March 31, 2023, the Commission was contingently liable with respect to letters of credit totalling 
$14,163,066 (2022: $13,773,254) for municipal development cost charges. 

 
b) Legal Claims 

 
The nature of the Commission’s activities is such that there will be litigation pending or in progress at 
any time. With respect to claims at March 31, 2023, management is of the opinion that it has valid 
defenses and appropriate insurance coverage in place, or if there is unfunded risk, such claims are 
not expected to have a material effect on the Commission’s financial position. Outstanding 
contingencies are reviewed on an ongoing basis and are provided for based on management’s best 
estimate of the ultimate settlement. 

 
c) Collective agreements with BCGEU 
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The commission has two collective agreements (administrative/clerical division & 
maintenance/service division) with that expired on March 
31, 2022.  At at March 31, 2023, the bargaining process was still on. When a ratif ied agreement is 
reached, retroactive compensation will be calculated starting f rom April 1, 2022.  

 
 
 
 
 
20.  Financial Instrument Risks  
 

The Commission, through its f inancial assets and liabilities, is exposed to credit risk, interest rate risk, 
market risk and liquidity risk. The following analysis provides a measurement of  those risks at 
March 31, 2023: 

 
a) Credit Risk 

 
Credit risk is the risk that the Commission will incur a loss due to the failure by its debtors to meet their 
contractual obligations. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Commission to credit risk 
consist primarily of  cash and portfolio investments, receivables, due f rom Province of  British Columbia, 
due f rom Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation, Due f rom Provincial rental Housing 
Corporation, mortgages and loans receivable and construction loans to housing projects. 

Credit risk associated with cash is managed by investing these f inancial assets in instruments held 
with reputable Canadian chartered banks. Credit risk associated with portfolio investments is managed 
by investing in pooled funds that have a well-diversif ied portfolio of securities.  

 
With respect to construction loans to housing projects, the development phase of  a project bears some 
credit risk as a result of  municipal zoning uncertainty, the capacity of  non-prof it housing providers, and 
funding availability. During this phase, credit risk is mitigated by an assessment of  collectability. During 
the construction phase of  a project, credit risk is low with respect to construction loans to housing 
projects owned by non-prof it housing providers as the loans are secured by property and repaid at 
substantial completion of  the project (see Note 4).  

With respect to mortgages and loans receivables, credit risk is mitigated as these receivables are also 
secured by property (see Note 5). 

The Commission is also exposed to credit risk through its CMHC indemnif ications as in the event of  a 
loan default, the Commission is required to rectify the default and fully reimburse CMHC for claims 
paid and approved to lenders. This is further disclosed in note 16 (e). The Commission mitigates this 
risk by identifying and locating an alternate housing provider to own the asset, continue the operation 
and assume the loan obligation. Since the establishment of  the Loan Insurance Agreement in January  
1993, the Commission has never had a claim made against the Loan Insurance Agreement.   

The Commission is not signif icantly exposed to cred it risk on its receivables f rom the Province and 
f rom the Corporation.  

 
b) Market Risk 

 
Market risk is comprised of  currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.  

Interest rate Risk 
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Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash f lows of  a financial instrument will f luctuate 
because of  changes in market interest rates. 
weighted average borrowing rate, however this risk is mitigated due to the relatively stable Provincial 
borrowing rate and the fact that these loans are relatively short term in nature (within two years). 
Investments bear some interest rate risk, but these risks are mitigated through the diversif ication of  
the portfolio. 

Other price risk  

Other price risk is the risk that the value of  an investment will f luctuate as a result of  changes in market 
prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specif ic to the individual investment, or factors 
af fecting all securities traded in the market. The Commission has an investment policy to ensure 
investments are managed appropriately and invested in diversif ied funds to secure the preservation 
of  capital and the availability of  liquid funds. The Commission has also retained qualif ied investment 
f irms to invest surplus funds in accordance with its investment policy. 

Currency risk - Currency risk is the risk arising f rom change in price of  one currency in relation to 
another. The Commission is not exposed to currency risk.

c) Liquidity Risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Commission will not be able to meet its obligations as they fall due. 
The Commission maintains adequate levels of  working capital to ensure all its obligations can be met 
as they become due. To further manage liquidity risk, the Commission has a borrowing limit of  up to 
$2.8 billion with the Province, including an additional approved $2 billion borrowing limit for the 
HousingHub program.  The debt is available by way of  a series of  rolling short -term promissory notes. 
The Commission therefore can access further f inancing through these promissory notes as they are 
repaid in stages through the receipt of  cash on construction loans receivable. Further f inancing can 
also be obtained through transfers and grants f rom the Province to mit igate this risk. The Commission 
has the option to sell its portfolio investments.  

 one year. 
The table below shows the various f inancial assets and liabilities that mature af ter one year. 
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21.  Subsequent Event  
 

Budget 2023 provides an increased borrowing limit of  $839 million to BC Housing, bringing the total 
borrowing limit to $3.639 billion for facilitating the construction or renovation of  af fordable housing and 
the HousingHub program. 






